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Gearing Up
for Next Level

Rationale

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding has grown organically and through 

strategic business acquisitions from a shipbuilder to an 

integrated marine group. The Group’s strong shipbuilding 

capabilities were re-enforced when it became the first Chinese 

shipyard to secure orders for 10,000 TEU containership vessel. 

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding is progressing up the value chain by 

moving into offshore and shipbreaking space. Through such new 

ventures, the Group is well-poised to gear up for the next level of 

growth.

Chartering New 

Areas Of Growth
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 2011 2010 2009
 31 December 31 December 31 December
 Rmb’000 Rmb’000 Rmb’000

Results
Revenue 15,705,828 13,558,184 10,623,642
Gross Profit 4,862,695 2,907,872 2,234,672
Other Income 150,067 240,796 360,527
Other gains 452,044 93,361 178,708
Net Profit Attributable to Shareholders 3,976,599 2,955,340 2,289,951

Financial Position
Total Assets 33,739,004 26,168,054 20,411,218
Shareholders’ Equity 12,974,006 9,928,254 6,310,304
Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,152,365 4,543,038 3,806,955
Basic EPS (Rmb Cents) 103.68 79.85 62.68
Dividends (Singapore Dollar) 0.055 0.045 0.035
Share Price at Period End (Singapore Dollar) 0.91 1.91 1.21

Market Capitalisation at Period End
Net Profit % 25% 22% 22%
Payout Ratio 26% 30% 27%
P/E 4.3 12.24 9.38
P/B 1.32 3.78 3.40
Dividend Yield 6.04% 2.40% 3%
No. of Shares (’000) 3,831,838 3,836,838 3,653,283
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We are one of the leading 
shipbuilders in the PRC, 

offering integrated marine 
services that include vessel 

design and construction, 
fabrication, marine electrical 

systems, ship breaking.



We produce a broad range of commercial vessels–containerships, bulk carriers and multi-purpose cargo vessels and 
our shipbuilding bases located along the Yangtze River are operated through the following subsidiaries:

The five yards occupy a total land area of 937 hectares and a total coastline of more than 6 km.

To provide shareholders with a better return and to 
strengthen our financial standing as a highly 
capital-intensive enterprise, we actively manage our 
strong cash reserves in an investment portfolio of 
held-to-maturity financial assets, a micro financing 
business and also provide venture capital for new high 
technology.
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• Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. 
(“Jiangsu Yangzijiang”)

• Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. 
(“New Yangzi”)

• Jiangsu Yangzi Changbo Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. 
(“Changbo”)

• Jiangsu Yangzi Xinfu Shipbuilding Co., Ltd 
(“Xinfu”)

• Jiangsu Huayuan Metal Processing Co., Ltd 
(“Huayuan”)

Shipyard Production Area (hectares) Coastline (meters) Capacity 

Jiangsu Yangzijiang 20  800 200,000 CGT
New Yangzi 201 2,744 800,000 CGT
Changbo 29 926 200,000 CGT
Xinfu 166 1,080 3 million DWT (2013)
Huayuan 521 803 600,000 LDT

TOTAL 937 6,353
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Chairman’s Message
Dear Shareholders,

The Group is celebrating its 5-year anniversary of listing 
on the Singapore Exchange this April in 2012. The past 
five years since our IPO in April 2007 have been very 
eventful and fruitful. We listed at a time of an 
unprecedented shipbuilding boom. Since then, the 
shipbuilding industry has seen two downturns. In the 
past years, ship owners and ship financiers alike have 
been cash-strapped, vessel prices have been falling and 
there is a dearth of newbuild orders. The path for 
Yangzijiang has not been easy but I am pleased to report 
that the Group’s disciplined and down-to-earth approach 
to business has resulted in stellar earnings growth and a 
consistent dividend payout throughout the industry’s up 
and down cycles.

Improving shareholders value

In five years, we have multiplied our net profit 
attributable to shareholders more than 4 times to reach a 
record Rmb 4.0 billion in FY2011, translating into a very 
commendable five-year cumulative average growth rate 
(CAGR) of 46%.

During our IPO, we had only one yard on 20 hectares of 
land. Today, we have four yards on a total land area of 416 
hectares. In 2007, we constructed containerships with a 
loading capacity of up to 2,500 TEU. Today, we have 
10,000TEU containerships in our order book.

In 2011, the Group ranked 329 among China Top 500 
Enterprise. We ranked 102 in efficiency. We also received 
a SIAS award for transparency in investor relations. In 
2010, we were the first PRC-majority owned company to 
list in Taiwan, and made headlines in our part in bi-lateral 
relations between China and Taiwan.

Today, we are the largest S-chip in terms of market 
capitalization and profitability. We are also a component 
stock on the MSCI Index. 
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     The Group ranked 329 among China Top 500 

Enterprise and 102 in efficiency.
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The Group’s orders from Asia grew from 50% as at 31 
December 2010 to 55% as at 31 December 2011. 

In 2011, we successfully delivered 62 vessels (FY2010: 50 
vessels) and retained our position as one of China’s five 
leading shipbuilding enterprises in DWT output. FY2011 
Group revenue grew 16% year-on-year to reach Rmb 15.7 
billion, with shipbuilding contributing 93%.

It is the Group’s Five-Year growth plan to have 60% of our 
revenue from vessel construction, 20% from ship 
breaking and another 20% from offshore engineering by 
2015.

Leading shipbuilder

To maintain our leadership position in yard output, we 
acquired 15 hectares of land for Rmb 108 million to 
expand our second yard - New Yangzi Yard - in 2011. This 
will allow us to accommodate construction and mooring 
of ships up to 150,000 DWT and increase the capacity of 
our second yard, New Yangzi, by one million DWT in 2014.

We shall also be spending Rmb 4 billion on a fourth 
shipbuilding yard, Xinfu. The Xinfu yard is expected to 
start operations in early 2013 and once fully operational, 
is expected to have an annual capacity of up to 3 million 
DWT or the equivalent of 10 VLCC’s or twelve 10,000 TEU 
containership vessels.

Successful navigation in challenging 

environment

In 2011, China maintained its position as the global 
shipbuilding leader, dominating with a 45% market share 
in output and clinching 52% of newbuilding orders in 
DWT. Yet, it was a challenging year when newbuilding 
orders placed with PRC shipyards plunged 52% 
year-on-year. As many as one third of all Chinese 
shipyards did not secure any orders. Most orders went to 
the leading PRC shipyards. There are two reasons for this:

Firstly, ship owners wanted the assurance that a yard was 
financially strong enough to complete the 
capital-intensive process of building a seagoing vessel. 
From a 20% progressive payment schedule, market 
conditions have changed to a practice where the 
customer gives four milestone payments of 10% each, or 
one 30% upfront deposit. The remaining 60% to 70% is 
payable only upon vessel delivery. This shift of payment 
quantum to the end of the work cycle means that 
shipbuilding construction is now viable only to the best 
shipbuilders with very strong financial resources. 

Secondly, Chinese government policy has led its banks to 
provide ship financing to reputable shipowners for their 
orders with leading PRC shipyards. This was a privilege 
that European and North American banks could not 
extend as the ship finance sector in the western 
hemisphere is plagued by sovereign debt woes at a time 
when freight rates have plunged and there is anemic 
demand for cargo transportation. In contrast, 
shipbuilding is one of the key industries that the Chinese 
government strongly supports within its stimulus 
package. 
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These initiatives shall more than double our newbuilding 
capacity over the next 3 years to reach 7.3 million DWT 
and strengthen our position as one of the largest 
shipbuilding enterprises in China.

Constructing high-end vessels

China leads the world in volumetric shipbuilding output, 
but our technology still trails behind developed nations. 
The Group’s vision is to surpass our peers in R&D and 
technological innovation, and we achieved a couple of 
firsts for Chinese yards in 2011.

One such breakthrough was the Super Green 8500 DWT 
vessel with a Groot Cross-Bow that we delivered to 
Carisbrooke Shipping in 2011. Featuring lower fuel 
consumption, lower carbon emissions and a smoother 
ride in heavy weather, the Super Green is the first of its 
kind built by a PRC yard.

We were also the first PRC shipbuilder to win orders for 
the 10,000 TEU containership, an area traditionally 
dominated by South Korean yards. In 2011, we secured 
contracts from Seaspan for seven 10,000 TEU 
containerships worth a total of US$700 million with 
options for another 18. If fully exercised, the additional 18 
vessels shall generate another US$1.8 billion of revenue 
for the Group.

Replacement demand for newer, bigger and more 
fuel-efficient container vessels is growing steadily. 
Demand for bulk carriers remains weak and vessel prices 
are under pressure because of a global bulk carrier 
supply glut.

It is thus the Group’s strategy to build more of the larger 
containerships such as the 10,000 TEU. We possess 
superior R&D capabilities and have been able to develop 
new vessel types with designs relevant to market trends. 

For example, we designed and are now producing 
energy-saving 4,800 TEU and 10,000 TEU containerships. 
Our new design reduces vessel fuel consumption by 
40%, cuts carbon emissions by 30% and raises loading 
capacity by 20%.

To ensure that the Group remains at the forefront of 
technology, we acquired 60% in CS Marine Technology 
for Rmb 5 million last July. CS Marine Technology is in the 
business of marine consulting, design and engineering 
of shipbuilding and offshore structures. It offers 
high-value turnkey ship design and R&D services to 
complement the Group’s shipbuilding business.

The Group’s long-term goal is to offer a comprehensive 
product range with a focus on high-end vessels as 
advanced as those produced in developed nations such 
as Japan or South Korea. We hope to expand our product 
range to meet the demand dictated by global economic 
trends. For example, we hope to build VLCCs and oil & gas 
support vessels, as we believe that oil prices will remain 
firm.

Ship breaking venture

The Group has identified ship breaking, scrap metal 
trading and its related logistics support as important 
elements for the steel hedging strategy of our 
shipbuilding business. 

During the last quarter, we invested Rmb 240 million to 
acquire 80% equity interest in a ship breaking associate 
company, Jiangsu Huayuan Metal Processing, making it a 
wholly owned subsidiary. Huayuan started scrap steel 
processing, trading and logistic services in 2011 and 
owns one of the few qualified ship demolishing 
companies in China. Over the next three years, we shall 
ramp up its production capacity from the current 
200,000 units to 600,000 units of light displacement 
tonnage per year.

We were the first PRC shipbuilder 

to win orders for the 10,000 TEU 

containership, traditionally 

dominated by South Korea.
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We believe we can be one of the top three ship breaking 
players in China and will have our ship breaking 
processes accredited by an international organization for 
the conservation of natural resources.

Offshore engineering venture

Offshore marine engineering is another area that the 
Group hopes to diversify into and eventually gain market 
share in. We have set up a joint venture company with 
Qatar Investment Corporation and intend to construct an 
offshore marine base in Taicang in phases at a total 
investment cost of Rmb 4 billion. The yard is located in 
China for cost efficiency, but we will tap on Singapore’s 
talent in marine and offshore engineering to develop 
market and provide technical support to the yard. 

This offshore yard sits on a land area of about 156 
hectares with 1,500 meters of coastline. We will hold an 
effective stake of 78% in the Taicang yard.

Financial asset management improves 

shareholders value

Shipbuilding is a highly capital-intensive industry, 
requiring huge capital outlay and working capital. 
Through our steady earnings growth and good 
receivables collection over several decades, the Group 
had accumulated cash and financial assets of Rmb 20.0 
billion as at 31 December 2011.

Our held-to-maturity financial assets increased by 21.6% 
to reach Rmb 10.5 billion as at 31 December 2011. 
Interest income from held-to-maturity financial assets 
increased 70% year-on-year to reach Rmb 916.9 million. 
Its segment contribution to the Group’s revenue 
increased from 4% in FY2010 to 6% in FY2011.

Depending on how the prospective yields of 
held-to-maturity investments change relative to our cost 
of borrowing, we may deploy funds from our investment 
portfolio to meet our shipbuilding needs for working 
capital.

Our strong balance sheet enabled us to venture into 
micro financing in 2008, when we saw opportunities 
made possible by China’s very tight debt financing 
environment. Relevant licenses were obtained and we 
have so far pumped Rmb 394.5 million into this venture. 
Thanks to the prudent and astute management of our 
dedicated Chinese banking veterans who have in-depth 
knowledge of the banking regulations in China, revenue 
from our micro financing business multiplied close to 10 
times in 2011 to reach Rmb 180 million. 
 
Steady dividend payout and share buyback

I wish to take this opportunity to thank shareholders who 
put their faith in us through the ups and downs of the 
shipbuilding cycle. Though our stock price has fluctuated 
significantly with market sentiment, our Treasury 
Department exercises the Group’s share buyback 
mandate at suitable market opportunities and this to a 
certain extent has supported Yangzijiang’s share price. To 
share the fruits of our success, the Board is proposing a 
dividend of 5.5 Singapore cents per share for FY2011.

The Group has a systematic and coherent diversification 
strategy in place and we are confident of maintaining 
long-term stable earnings growth for shareholders. With 
the unwavering support of our dedicated management 
team and workforce, our customers, suppliers and other 
business associates, we shall continue our past successes.

Let us join hands to sail the seas!

Mr Ren Yuanlin
Executive Chairman
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• YZJ Executive Chairman, Mr. Ren 
wins prestigious Ernst & Young 
Entrepreneur of The Year 2011 
China Award, Mainland China 
Region

• YZJ Awarded Most Transparent 
Company Award 2011 (Foreign 
Listing Category) at SIAS 
Investors Choice Awards 2011

• YZJ Launches first Chinese-built 
ship with a groot cross-bow

• First Chinese yard to receive 
orders for 10,000 TEU 
containership vessels

• First Chinese-majority owned 
company to be listed on Taiwan 
Stock Exchange

• Largest S-Chip company listed on 
SGX and most profitable 
Singapore-listed China company

• Acquired 51% stake in Changbo 
Shipyard

• Million square meters 
expansion plan completed

• Successful listing on SGX

• Completion of new shipyard

• Runner-up for Most Transparent 
Company (Foreign Listing 
Category) at SIAS Investors 
Choice Awards 2009

• Creation of a marine equipment 
supply subsidiary

• Investment in ship demolition
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Board of Directors

REN YUANLIN (Aged 58, PRC)
Executive Chairman

Mr Ren was appointed as a Director of the Company on 
13 January 2006 and the Chairman on 18 March 2007. He 
was last re-elected on 28 April 2009. He is the founder of 
the Group and is currently responsible for the overall 
management and operations of the Group. He is also the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Jiangsu Yangzijiang 
and New Yangzi.

Mr Ren has over 30 years of experience in the 
shipbuilding industry, and has worked within the Group 
and the Group’s predecessors in various positions since 
the 1970s. In 1973, Mr Ren joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding 
Factory as a worker involved in cold works. From 1976 to 
1982, he held the positions of vice-head and head of the 
ship body workshop. From 1982 to 1984, he was the 
department head of the process technology 
department. From 1984 to 1985, he held the position of 
Assistant Shipbuilding Supervisor. During the period 
between 1985 and 1997, inclusive of the time when 
Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory was changed to Jiangsu 
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory, he concurrently held 
the positions of Assistant Factory Supervisor and 
Supervisor of the shipbuilding subfactory. From 1997, Mr 
Ren has held the concurrent positions of Factory 
Supervisor and Chairman of the board of directors in 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory (which has 
since been changed into Jiangsu Yangzijiang 
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“Jiangsu Yangzijiang”) in 1999).

Mr Ren was awarded the Outstanding Factory Supervisor 
(Management) award for two consecutive years by the 
Jiangyin Municipal Commission of Communist Party, 
People’s Government of Jiangyin Municipality in 2000 and 
2001. He also holds a Diploma in Economics from Jiangsu 
Television Broadcasting University which he was 
conferred in 1986.

WANG DONG (Aged 53, PRC)
Executive Director

Mr Wang was appointed as a Director of the Company on 18 
March 2007 and last re-elected on 27 April 2010.

Mr Wang has over 30 years of experience in the shipbuilding 
industry. He first joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory in 
1977 as a workshop welder. Thereafter in 1985, he was 
transferred to the administrative management department. 
In 1988, he was promoted to the position of Assistant Sales 
Supervisor of Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory. Between 1992 
and 1997, he held the position of assistant factory supervisor 
of Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory (which was changed to 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory in 1992), where he 
was in charge of the daily operations of the factory. 
Thereafter, he became the Deputy General Manager of 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory (which has since 
been changed to Jiangsu Yangzijiang in 1999). He is now the 
Deputy General Manager in Jiangsu Yangzijiang and New 
Yangzi and in charge of the sales and procurement of 
materials for the shipbuilding processes.

Mr Wang holds a high school certificate from Jiangyin City 
High School which he was conferred in 1975.
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YU KEBING (Aged 48, PRC)
Non Executive Director

Mr Yu was appointed as a Director of the Company on 20 
March 2009 and last re-elected on 28 April 2011.

Mr Yu is an experienced investor in shipping and marine 
industry in last 20 years. He founded Shanghai Tongbao 
Shipping Co in 1992, the company focused on ocean 
towing, project cargo transportation, marine engineering 
solution, ship agency, forwarding and ship building broker 
etc. The business of company covered Far-East Asia, 
East-South Asia, Mid-East Asia, Europe etc. Prior to starting 
Shanghai Tongbao Shipping Co Ltd, Mr Yu was the Deputy 
General Manager of Shanghai Eastern Marine Technical 
Services Co. In 2003, Mr. Yu founded Tongbao (Singapore) 
Shipping Pte Ltd (TBSS) in Singapore for the purpose of 
invest shipbuilding, ship managing, port agency etc.

Mr. Yu was awarded the degree of Executive Master of 
Business Administration (EMBA) from the Cheung Kong 
Graduate School of Business in October 2007. He 
obtained the degree as Bachelor of Marine Engineering 
Management, conferred by Shanghai Maritime 
University in 1986.

XIANG JIANJUN (Aged 52, PRC)
Executive Director

Mr Xiang was appointed as a Director of the Company on 
18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 27 April 2010.

Mr Xiang has over 30 years of experience in the 
shipbuilding industry. He joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding 
Factory in 1978, and worked in the workshop for about 
one year. In May 1979, he became a Loftsman, and since 
then, he has worked in various positions within Jiangyin 
Shipbuilding Factory (which was changed to Jiangsu 
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory in 1992 and finally 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang in 1999). He was promoted as the 
Head of Production Process Department Section in 1985. 
From January 1992 to December 1994, Mr Xiang was the 
Chief of the Technical Department Section of Jiangsu 
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory. Between 1995 and 
1998, he served in various positions including the Head of 
the Production Process, Technical Quality Control 
Department and Assistant Shipyard Supervisor of Jiangsu 
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory. In January 1999, he 
became the Shipyard Supervisor of Jiangsu Yangzijiang. 
He is now the General Manager of Jiangsu Yangzijiang.

Mr Xiang holds a Diploma in Ship Engineering from 
Wuhan School of Transport by Water which was 
conferred in 1991.
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Board of Directors
TEO YI-DAR (Aged 41, Singaporean)
Lead Independent Director

Mr Teo was appointed a Director of the Company on 28 July 
2006 and last re-elected on 28 April 2009.

Mr Teo is an Investment Partner with SEAVI Advent 
Corporation Ltd, the Asian affiliate of Boston-based Advent 
International private equity group. He manages direct 
investments in Asia, and focuses on the electronics, 
chemical, engineering and technology segments. Prior to 
joining SEAVI Advent, he was with Keppel Corporation Ltd., 
conducting business development activities for Keppel’s 
offshore and marine businesses. He started his career as an 
Engineer in SGS-Thomson Microelectronics. 

Mr. Teo holds two Masters’ degrees; Master of Science 
Degree in Industrial and Systems Engineering (1998) and 
Master of Science Degree in Applied Finance (2000) from 
the National University of Singapore. He graduated from 
the same university with a Bachelor of Electrical 
Engineering (Honours) in 1996. He was awarded the 
Chartered Financial Analyst by the CFA Institute in 2001.

TEO MOH GIN (Aged 53, Singaporean)
Independent Director

Mr Teo was appointed a Director of the Company on 18 
March 2007 and last re-elected on 28 April 2011.

Mr Teo is currently a director of Vive Capital Pte. Ltd., where 
he is involved in investment-related work. Between March 
2006 and January 2007, he was the Chief Corporate Officer 
of RichLand Group Limited, where he oversaw the finance, 
business development, mergers and acquisition activities 
as well as the corporate affairs of RichLand Group Limited. 
From 2005 to 2006, Mr Teo was the Managing Director of 
Global Business Insights Pte Ltd. From 1994 to 2005, Mr Teo 
also held various senior management positions in leading 
organisations such as GKE International Limited, 
Transworld Carnival Corporation, SESAMi Inc, System 
Access Limited, Credit Suisse and Veno Technologies (S) Pte 
Ltd. From 1990 to 1993, Mr Teo was the Senior Investment 
Officer with Government of Singapore Investment 
Corporation Private Limited. From 1983 to 1989, he was the 
Head of Business Consulting Division in Arthur Andersen 
Associates. Mr Teo was the Executive Vice President of GKE 
International and was responsible for mergers and 
acquisitions and business development for the logistics 
company. He handled many of the mergers and 
acquisitions activities, implementation of business 
development plans in locations such as China, Malaysia 
and the Middle East. Mr Teo was the Chief Executive Officer 
of Transworld Carnival Corporation. His responsibility 
included the execution of the company’s mobile 
amusement fairs. Mr Teo also held the positions of Senior 
Vice President in corporate development and Chief 
Financial Officer in SESAMi Inc., and System Access Limited. 
He oversaw all the financial functions of the respective 
companies including financial planning and analysis, 
financial control, business opportunities and investments.

Mr Teo graduated from the National University of 
Singapore in 1983 with a Bachelor of Accountancy 
(Honours) and obtained a Post-Graduate Diploma in 
Business Administration jointly awarded by the University 
of Manchester and University of Wales in 2001. He has been 
a CPA member of the Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants of Singapore since 1989 and was admitted as 
a Fellow of ICPAS in 2004.



WANG JIANSHENG (Aged 55, PRC)
General Manager

Mr Wang was appointed as General Manager of Jiangsu 
New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd on 1 January 2008. He is 
responsible for the administration of Jiangsu New Yangzi 
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.

Mr. Wang has nearly 30 years of experience in the 
shipbuilding industry. Prior to joining the Group, between 
2004 and 2007 Mr Wang was the Vice President of Shanghai 
Waigaoqiao Shipbuilding Co., Ltd., and was responsible for 
the management of manufacturing. He joined Shanghai 
Shipyard Co. Ltd in 1982 as Assistant Manager in the 
workshop and was promoted to Vice General Manager in 
1997.

Mr Wang holds a Diploma from Wuhan University of 
Technology which he was conferred in 1982.

DU CHENGZHONG (Aged 44, PRC)
Deputy General Manager

From January 2006, he has been the Deputy General 
Manager and Head of Quality Control Department in 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang and New Yangzi, where he is also 
responsible for the technical and quality aspects of the 
operations in Jiangsu Yangzijiang and New Yangzi.

Mr Du has nearly 20 years of experience in the shipbuilding 
industry. In July 1991, he started as a trainee in the turbine 
workshop of the then Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory. In July 
1992, he became a technician in the same workshop where 
he held the position till December 1996. During the period 
between January 1997 and December 2001, he worked as 
a construction manager in the Production Department of 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang. In January 2002, he was promoted to 
the position of Deputy Head of Engineering Department of 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang and served in the position till 
December 2004. Thereafter, between January 2005 and 
December 2005, he held concurrent positions as Assistant 
General Manager cum Head of Technical Preparation 
Department.

Mr Du holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mathematics and 
Engineering from Harbin Shipbuilding Engineering 
Institute which he was conferred in 1991. He was 
accredited as an Engineer by the Wuxi City Human 
Resource Bureau in 1998.
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New
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Shipbuilding - steady growth

Last year, we increased our production capacity by 18% to reach 2.6 million DWT. With our enlarged 
capacity, revenue from our core shipbuilding business grew 12% to reach yet another record at Rmb 
14.6 billion. Milestone deliveries made for newbuilds contracted before the global financial crisis 
when vessel prices were high and improvements in productivity enabled us to improve gross 
shipbuilding margins by three percentage points to 26%. 

Bulk carriers accounted for 74% of the newbuilds while containerships accounted for another 19% in 
2011. 

As at 31 December 2011, our order book comprised of 100 vessels with a total value of US$4.7 billion. 
At the beginning of this year (2012), we secured another seven shipbuilding contracts with an 
aggregate value of US$206.2 million. These shall be delivered from 2013 to 2015.

As one of China’s five leading shipbuilding 
enterprises, the total value of contracts secured 
by the Group in FY2011 amounted to US$1.2 billion. 
The Group grew FY2011 revenue a very healthy 16% 
to reach Rmb 15.7 billion. Shipbuilding 
contributed 93% to the Group’s revenue while 
active management of our financial assets 
contributed 7%.
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Shipbuilding 
yards

Design services & 
marine engineering

Fabrication Marine electrical 
system

Shipbuilding

Ship breaking Ship-owning Offshore

Jiangsu Yangzijiang
• 800m coastline
• 20 hectares 

production area

Shanghai Henggao 
Ships designing 

Co., Ltd.

Jiangsu 
Zhongzhou Marine 
Equipment Co., Ltd

Jiangsu Hailan Marine 
Systems Technology 

Co., Ltd

Jiangsu Huayuan 
Metal Processing 

Co., Ltd.

MV TW Hamburg 
Shipping 

Company Ltd

New Yangzi:
• 2,744m coastline
• 201 hectares 

production area

CS Marine 
Technology Pte Ltd

Jingjiang City 
Dunfeng Ship

Dismantle Co., Ltd

MV TW Manila 
Shipping 

Company Ltd

Changbo yard:
• 926m coastline
• 29 hectares 

MV TW Beijing 
Shipping 

Company Ltd

Xinfu yard:
• 166 hectares 

production area
• 1,080m coastline

MV TW Jiangsu 
Shipping 

Company Ltd

YZJ Offshore 
Engineering 

Pte Ltd
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Such products yielded an average return of about 10% to 
15% a year, and are backed by collateral such as listed 
shares, land titles and guarantees. Relative to this, our cost 
of borrowing is relatively low at 5% for Rmb and 2% to 3% 
for USD.

Depending on how the prospective yields of 
held-to-maturity investments change relative to our cost 
of borrowing, we do not rule out the possibility of 
deploying funds from our held-to-maturity investment 
portfolio to fund our working capital requirements as we 
expand our shipbuilding activities. 

Interest income from micro financing increased 
significantly by 835% to reach Rmb 180 million. The 
increase was mainly a result of an increased amount of 
loans to third parties given by the Group’s micro finance 
subsidiaries, Wuxi Runyuan Technology Microfinance and 
Jiangsu Runyuan Rural Microfinance.

Other income, comprising mainly of interest income from 
the Group’s cash balances, decreased by 38% to Rmb 
150.1 million. Other gains, comprising mainly of foreign 
exchange related gains, were Rmb 452.0 million, up 384% 
from the previous year.

Financial assets – revenue surge

Last year, we reclassified interest income arising from our financial investments as revenue in order to better reflect the 
nature of the income as well as the policy adopted for the investment transactions.

Revenue contribution from financial investments increased from 4% in FY2010 to 7% in FY2011, to Rmb 1,096.9 million.

Our held-to-maturity financial assets increased by 21.6% to reach Rmb 10.5 billion as at 31 December 2011. Interest 
income from held-to-maturity financial assets increased by 70% to reach Rmb 916.9 million. These held-to-maturity 
financial products are investments in banking products offered by Chinese banks and trust companies and are used to 
finance Chinese corporations and entities in diverse sectors, such as real estate projects, manufacturing companies 
and local government projects. 

Finance expenses increased fivefold (up 397%) to Rmb 
124.7 million as we have increased our bank borrowings 
for our shipbuilding business. 

Administrative expenses increased by 78% due to the 
Group’s acquisition of new subsidiaries. We have 
provided an allowance of Rmb 554 million on our 
held-to-maturity financial assets to cushion against any 
potential impairment losses based on prudent 
accounting principles.

Investments in marine-related businesses bore maiden 
fruits with share of results from associates and 
joint-venture companies contributing Rmb 52.9 million. 
These include the following: 

• PPL Holdings Pte Ltd
• Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co. Ltd
• Jiangsu Hailan Marine Systems Technology Co. Ltd
• Jiangsu Huagong Venture Capital Co. Ltd
• Everbright Venture Capital Jiangyin Co. Ltd
• Jiangnan Renhe New Energy Industrial Investment 
 Centre (Limited Partnership)



Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd | Annual Report 2011

22

Operations and 
Financial Review

The Group generated net profit attributable to 
shareholders of Rmb 4.0 billion, up 35%. Gross margin for 
the shipbuilding segment was 26%, an improvement 
from the 23% we achieved in FY2010.

Cashflow – actively managed

Other than financing our capital-intensive core business 
in shipbuilding, we have invested about Rmb 278 million 
of our cash reserves in venture capital start-ups in High 
Technology. This will improve the return on our financial 
assets as well as further extend the Group’s technological 
expertise.

During the year under review, the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents decreased by 31% to Rmb 3.2 billion mainly 
due to operating cash outflows of Rmb 5.6 billion. There 
were higher working capital requirements for the year 
under review.

Cash and cash equivalents remain high, reflecting the 
Group’s conservative funding strategy in view of the high 
working capital requirements for shipbuilding activities.

Net cash outflow from investing activities of Rmb 1.2 
billion was mainly due to an increase in the Group’s 
investment in Xinfu Yard from 20% to 60%, and various 
acquisitions that took place in 2011 funded by cash.

Net cash inflow from financing activities increased by 
480% to reach Rmb 5.4 billion, mainly due to an increase 
in the Group’s borrowings.

Our debt funding strategy focused on a diversified 
funding mix consisting of secured commercial bank 
financing, and unsecured financing. We seek to maintain 
a competitively priced funding profile, which ensures 
adequate capacity to fund capital investments and future 
growth. It is also our fund deployment strategy to 
leverage on the Group’s access to low-cost borrowings.

Balance sheet – grows with yard 

expansion and aggressive M&A 

In FY2011, the Group’s total assets increased by 29% to 
reach Rmb 33.7 billion. This comprises of 53% in 
shipbuilding assets and 46% in investment assets. There 
is another 1% in miscellaneous unallocated assets such 
as certain other receivables and deferred income tax 
assets.

The Group’s restricted cash balance, mainly consisting of 
collateral deposits nearly doubled to Rmb 4.2 billion (up 
90%). This was in tandem with the increase of the Group’s 
borrowings, which are mainly USD denominated loans 
that are secured by Rmb deposits in the form of restricted 
cash.

Total liabilities increased by 24% to reach Rmb 20.0 
billion. Shipbuilding liabilities such as trade payables, 
provisions and dues to customers for construction 
contracts account for 58% of the Group’s total liabilities 
while borrowings account for 42%. 

There was a significant increase in borrowings in FY2011 
due to higher working capital requirements as milestone 
payments from customers shifted toward the end of the 
vessel construction cycle. Current borrowings increased 
by 567% to reach Rmb 6.0 billion while long term 
borrowings increased by 664% to reach Rmb 2.4 billion.

Total equity attributable to shareholders increased by 
31% to reach Rmb 13.0 billion as at 31 December 2011, 
mainly due to higher operating profits.

Micro financing Venture capital

Investments

Financial assets, 
held-to-maturity

Jiangsu Runyuan 
Rural Microfinance 

Co. Ltd

Jiangsu Huagong 
Venture Capital Co. Ltd

Everbright Venture 
Capital Jiangyin Co. Ltd

Jiangnan Renhe
New Energy Industrial 

Investment Centre

Wuxi Runyuan 
Technology 

Microfinance Co. Ltd
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Investments to maintain leading 

position in shipbuilding

From being a builder of bulk carriers and containerships 
in FY2009, the Group has used its strong cash position to 
extend its capability along the shipbuilding value-chain 
by acquiring or entering joint ventures in related 
businesses. In the past year, these include the following:

• Ship breaking
• Naval architecture & marine engineering
• Fabrication
• Manufacture of marine electrical systems

These investments will ultimately increase the Group’s 
revenue streams, lower our vessel construction costs and 
further extend our expertise in shipbuilding technology.

In addition to our investment in CS Marine, we also 
entered into a joint venture last January with 
Shenzhen-listed Beijing Highlander Digital Technology 
Co. Ltd to develop the world’s largest platform for an 
integrated marine electrical system.

These acquisitions will provide us with an edge over 
other shipbuilders by equipping us with the ability to 
offer better vessel design solutions, tap on the clients of 
newly acquired subsidiaries as well as provide an 
alternative source of income to complement our core 
business.

Risk management

As part of the Group’s strategy to optimize returns on 
robust cash balances and for better cash management, 
the Group invested in fixed rate instruments offered by 
banks and trust companies used in financing of 
corporate and entities from diverse industries in China. 
These instruments are reflected as financial assets, 
held-to-maturity amounting to an aggregate of Rmb 10.5 
billion as at 31 December 2011.

The Group adopts a conservative approach in investing 
in these products and has a dedicated treasury team 
managing and monitoring the investments actively. The 
investment team reports to a Committee comprising of 
nine senior management staff and is chaired by Mr Ren 
Yuanlin, our Executive Chairman. Any proposed 
investment that exceeds Rmb 100 million is subject to 
approval by the Group’s Board of Directors.

All of these investments are secured against various 
collaterals. The Group’s policy is to insist that the 
collateral to debt coverage ratio to be no less than 2 
times and the collaterals have to be unencumbered. Due 
to our rigorous investment procedures and stringent due 
diligence requirements, the Group has not experienced 
any default of such investments since it started investing 
in these products in 2008.

Moving forward, the Group shall require strong financial 
support for future capital expenditure for capacity 
expansion and to fund potential merger and acquisition 
opportunities in ship building and marine offshore 
related businesses. We believe that with prudent 
management of these investments, a healthy level of 
cash balance can be maintained to help fund future 
expansion needs.

AWARDS

Ernst & Young Entrepreneur Of The 

Year China 2011

The Group’s Executive Chairman, Mr Ren Yuanlin, was 
declared the winner at the Ernst & Young Entrepreneur Of 
The Year China 2011 awards (Industrial Products 
Category). To add to this honor, Mr Ren was also chosen 
as the Country Winner for the Mainland China region. 
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Lloyd’s List – Highly Commended 

Shipyard

Yangzijiang was short-listed as one of the three yards in 
Asia for the “Shipyard of the Year” by Lloyd’s List Awards, 
Asia 2011. A first for a Chinese shipbuilder, the Group 
eventually received the award in the “Highly 
Commended Yard” category.

Most Transparent Company

Our SGX-listed entity was also the proud recipient of the 
Most Transparent Company Award last year (Foreign 
Listings category) given by Securities Investors 
Association (Singapore) at its Investors’ Choice Award 
2011. This is the second time the Group has won the 
investor-relations award, the first being Runner-Up in the 
same category in 2009.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY

Stabilizing labor turnover

The Group has numerous employee benefits to train and 
retain personnel as well as motivate worker performance. 
Currently, the Group’s headcount amounts to about 
21,000 persons.

Our human resources team has been working to secure 
national subsidies for continuing vocation training. Last 
year, we launched a basic certification initiative to raise 
worksite expertise and yard productivity. Our work site 
technicians participate in national exams for certification 
of various skills required in the shipyards.

We also have defined contribution plans and provide 
medical benefits for our shipyard workers. 

As a leading shipyard enterprise, the Group endeavors to 
adopt exemplary labor practices. From our assistance 
fund that gives out loans to workers with emergency 
needs, visits by supervisors to workers who have taken ill, 
sustained injuries or who are hospitalized to the regular 
worker birthday cake celebrations, the Group is 
determined to adopt best practices to strike a balance 
between enterprise cost discipline and awareness of 
human rights.

Environmental friendliness

In line with global shipbuilding demand trends, the 
Group has launched energy-saving and environmentally 
friendly vessel designs such as our Super Green 8500 
DWT and our energy-saving 10,000 TEU containership.

Within the organization, we have strict and effective 
policies on energy conservation. Through implementing 
a series of measures on energy conservation, our yards 
have effectively reduced electricity consumption per 
capita by 5% in 2011 in compare to 2010. We have also 
adopted the use of various power saving electrical 
devices such as inverse circuit welding equipment.

Excellence in safety

It is our objective to implement safety procedures at 
planning and design stage for every vessel built. Even 
before work commenced, work site safety for new vessel 
types (such as the 4,250 TEU containership) were already 
taken into account when designing our work process, 
and at production planning stage.

In 2011, we implemented safety production standards 
across our 3 shipyards, focusing on immediate remedial 
action to worksite problems.

Workflow safety improvements included rectification of 
procedures for erecting scaffolding, crane operation and 
usage of electrical appliances. Improvements in safety 
management practices were extended to policies for 
operating in confined cabin space, prevention of summer 
heat strokes, supervision of work undertaken during 
irregular hours and work carried out next to crevices and 
manholes.

There were no occurrences of any major workplace 
safety or theft incidents during the year under review. 

In 2011, we solicited for feedback from our personnel and 
received 3,428 letters recommending improvements to 
the organization. This process greatly helps our efforts to 
improve our work environment and cut costs. I wish to 
commend our management team for rolling out 
excellent directives and our workforce for making 
Yangzijiang one of China’s most efficient shipyards. We 
shall continue to grow our corporate culture of 
disciplined management, exemplary work ethics, 
continual upgrade of professional skills and seamless 
internal communications structure.
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The Board of Directors of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”) is committed to maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance to protect the interests of shareholders and to promote investors’ confidence and 
supports. This report set out the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with specific references to 
the guidelines of the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”).

(A) BOARD MATTERS 

 Board of Directors 

 Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs 

 The Group is led and controlled by an effective Board that has the overall responsibility for corporate governance, 
strategic direction, overseeing the investments, operations, internal controls, financial reporting and compliance 
of the Group and approving the nominations of Board of Directors.

 The Board’s approval is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, major 
investments and divestments, material acquisitions and disposal of assets and release of the Group’s quarterly 
and full-year financial results.

 The Board has also established and delegated specific authority to the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee 
and Remuneration Committee. Each of the Board Committee functions within its terms of reference. 

 The Board meets at least 4 times a year, with additional meetings convened when circumstances require. The 
Company’s Articles of Association provide for meetings to be held via telephone conference or other methods 
of simultaneous communication by electronic or telegraphic means. Management has access to the directors for 
guidance or exchange of views outside of the formal environment of the Board meetings.

 The Directors’ attendance at the meetings of the Board and Board Committees during the financial year ended 
31 December 2011 is shown below:

Name of Directors

Board of Directors Audit Committee Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meeting No. of meeting No. of meeting No. of meeting

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Ren Yuanlin 4 4 – – – – – –

Xiang Jianjun 4 3 – – – – – –

Wang Dong 4 3 – – – – – –

Teo Moh Gin 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1

Teo Yi-dar 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1

Yu Kebing 4 4 4 3 1 1 1 1

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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 Currently, the Company does not have a formal training programme for new directors. However, to assist the 
Directors in discharging their duties, where necessary, the Directors will be updated of any new legislations, rules 
and/or regulations relevant to the Group. Newly-appointed Directors will be given briefings by the management 
on the business activities of the Group and its strategic directions as well as its corporate governance practices.

 Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance 

 The Board of Directors comprises six Directors, two of whom are Independent Directors. The Directors of the 
Company as at the date of this statement are: 

1.  Mr Ren Yuanlin (Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 

2.  Mr Xiang Jianjun (Executive Director) 

3.  Mr Wang Dong (Executive Director) 

4.  Mr Teo Yi-dar (Lead Independent Director) 

5.  Mr Teo Moh Gin (Independent Director) 

6.  Mr Yu Kebing (Non-executive Director) 

 The Directors bring with them a broad range of business and financial experience, skills and expertise in finance, 
industry, business and management and general corporate matters. Their profiles are set out on pages 14 to 16 
of this Annual Report.

 The size and composition of the Board are reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (“NC”), taking into 
account the scope and nature of operations of the Company, to ensure that the size of the Board is appropriate 
to facilitate effective decision-making, and that the Board has an appropriate balance of independent Directors. 
The NC is of the view that the current Board size is appropriate for the Group’s present scope of operations and 
the Board has an adequate mix of competency to discharge its duties and responsibilities. Further, no individual 
or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision making process.

 Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

 Mr Ren Yuanlin holds the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company. He 
is responsible to the Board for corporate directions and operational efficiency, development and review of 
the Group’s policies and strategies, and ensuring a cohesive working relationship among the Directors, and 
timeliness of information flow between the Board and management.

 The Board is of the view that it is not necessary to separate the role of Chairman and CEO given the present 
Group’s structure, scope of operations and the presence of two Independent Directors and one Non-executive 
Directors who have demonstrated commitment in their roles as Directors. 

 The Chairman schedules the meeting and sets the meeting agenda of the Board, and reviews the Board papers 
before they are presented to the Board. In addition, the Chairman also assists to ensure the Company’s compliance 
with the Code.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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 Principle 4: Board Membership 
 Principle 5: Board Performance 

 Nominating Committee (“NC”) 

 The NC comprises the following Directors as at the date of this report are:
 
 Mr Teo Yi-dar  (Lead Independent Director)  – Chairman 
 Mr Teo Moh Gin  (Independent Director)  –  Member 
 Mr Yu Kebing  (Non-executive Director)  –  Member 

 The NC performs the following functions in accordance with its terms of reference:

(a) Review and recommend to the Board on all Board appointments and re-election of Directors.

b)  Review the Board structure, size and composition regularly.

c)  Determine the independence of Directors annually (taking into account the circumstances set out in the 
Code and other salient factors).

d)  To assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Committees of the Board and the contribution 
of each individual Director to an effective Board.

 The Board, through the NC, reviews annually the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its required mix of skills 
and experience and other qualities, including core competencies, which Directors should bring to the Board.

 The Board, on the recommendation of the NC, appoints new Directors. All new Directors who are appointed by 
the Board are subject to re-election at the next Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”). In addition, pursuant to the 
Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors other than the Managing Director, are required to 
retire by rotation at each AGM.

 The following Directors of the Company will be retiring at the forthcoming AGM in accordance with Article 94 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association:-

1. Mr Ren Yuanlin

2. Mr Teo Yi-dar 

3. Mr Wang Dong

4. Mr Xiang Jianjun

 The NC and the Board were informed that Mr Wang Dong and Mr Xiang Jianjun who are retiring at the forthcoming 
AGM, will not be seeking for re-election. 

 The NC meets at least once a year. Additional meetings are scheduled when the Chairman of the NC considers it 
necessary. 

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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 The Board has established a formal assessment process which will be carried out annually for evaluation of the 
performance of the Board and individual Directors on the basis of the following performance criteria:

•  Attendance at Board meetings;

•  Level of participation at Board meetings and overall commitment;

•  Ability to strategise and propose sound business direction; and

•  Contribution of specialised knowledge.

 The appraisal process requires the Directors to complete appraisal forms which will be collated by the NC 
Chairman who will compile the results of the appraisal for review by the NC. The NC will thereafter report to the 
Board.

 Principle 6: Access to Information 

 All Directors have access to the Company’s senior management, including CEO, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and 
other key management, as well as the Group’s internal and external auditors. Wherever possible, the Directors 
are provided Board papers prior to each Board meeting. Board papers provided are, amongst others, financial 
and corporation information, significant operational, financial and corporate issues, results and performance of 
the Company and of the Group, and management’s proposals which require the approval of the Board. Queries 
by individual Directors on circulated paper are directed to management who will respond accordingly.

 The Directors, whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity may seek independent professional advice 
in the furtherance of their duties from time to time. The advisor so selected shall be approved by the Board and 
the cost of such professional advice will be borne by the Company.

 The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and Board Committees meetings and records the proceedings 
and decisions of the Board and of the Board Committees. The Company Secretary ensures that the corporate 
secretarial aspects of procedures concerning the Board are duly complied.

(B)  REMUNERATION MATTERS 

 Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies 
 Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration 
 Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration 

 Remuneration Committee (“RC”) 

 The RC comprises the following Directors as at the date of this report are:

 Mr Teo Yi-dar (Lead Independent Director) – Chairman 
 Mr Teo Moh Gin (Independent Director) – Member 
 Mr Yu Kebing (Non-executive Director) – Member 

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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 The RC has adopted the terms of reference and their principal functions are as follows: 

(a) Review and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for Directors and key executives.

b) Review and recommend to the Board the specific remuneration packages for Executive Directors and key 
executives.

c) Review Directors’ remuneration packages annually to recommend appropriate adjustments (if necessary).

d) Approve the payment of performance bonus to certain Executive Directors and executive officers pursuant 
to the profit-sharing scheme of the Company.

 The RC shall meet at least once a year. Additional meetings are scheduled when the Chairman of the RC considers 
it necessary. No Director shall take part in decisions pertaining to his own remuneration. Each member of the RC 
shall abstain from voting on any resolution concerning his own remuneration. 

 None of the Non-executive Directors has service agreement with the Company. The Independent Directors are 
each paid a director’s fee which is recommended by the Board. The fees are determined based on the level of 
contribution, taking into account factors such as their effort and time spent and responsibilities, and are subject 
to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting.

 Each Executive Director has a service agreement with the Company. Each service agreement is valid for an initial 
period of three years commencing 18 March 2007 and had been renewed for another three years in year 2010. 
The service agreement may be terminated by either the Company or the executive Director giving not less than 
six month’s notice in writing. The remuneration package of executive Directors and other senior management 
consists of the following components:

(a)  Fixed Component 

 Fixed pay comprises basic salary, social security contributions, and employer’s fixed allowances. Eligibility 
of employer’s fixed allowances depends on the length of service.

(b) Variable Component

 This component comprises variable bonus based on the Group’s and the individual’s performance. To link 
rewards to performance, the more senior the executive is in the Group, the higher is the percentage of the 
variable component against total compensation.

(c)  Profit-sharing scheme

 We have a profit-sharing scheme which benchmarks against the Group’s audited profit before tax, pursuant 
to which certain executive directors and executive officers are each entitled, subject to the approval of the 
RC, to a shared performance bonus.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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Remuneration of Directors 

Director of the Company Salary(1) % Bonus(1) % Directors’ Fees(2) % Total %

Below S$250,000

Ren Yuanlin 20 80 N.A 100%

Xiang Jianjun 25 75 N.A 100%

Wang Dong 20 80 N.A 100%

Teo Moh Gin N.A N.A 100% 100%

Teo Yi-dar N.A N.A 100% 100%

Yu Kebing N.A N.A N.A. N.A.

(1)  These are under the service contract.

(2) The directors’ fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

 For the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the remuneration of each of the top 5 key executives who are 
not Directors of the Company was less than S$250,000. The Company believes that given the highly competitive 
industry conditions coupled with the sensitivity and confidentiality of staff remuneration matters, disclose of the 
remuneration of individual executive on a named basis is disadvantageous to its business interests.

 There were no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a director, the CEO or a substantial 
shareholder of the Company, and whose remuneration exceeded S$150,000 during the financial year ended 31 
December 2011.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 

 Principle 10: Accountability 
 Principle 11: Audit Committee 
 Principle 12: Internal Controls 
 Principle 13: Internal Audit

 Audit Committee (“AC”) 

 To ensure that the corporate governance is effectively practiced, the Directors have established self regulatory 
and monitoring mechanisms, including the establishment of the AC. The AC comprises three members, two of 
whom are Independent Directors and one is a Non-executive Director.

 The members of the AC as at the date of this report are:

 Mr Teo Moh Gin  (Independent Director)  –  Chairman 
 Mr Teo Yi-dar  (Lead Independent Director)  –  Member 
 Mr Yu Kebing  (Non-Executive Director)  –  Member 

 The Chairman of the AC, Mr Teo Moh Gin, is a Certified Public Accountant. All members of the AC have several 
years of experience in financial management or accounting. The Board is of the view that AC has sufficient 
financial management expertise and experience to discharge the AC’s functions.

 The AC carried out its functions in accordance with its terms of reference, the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. In performing their functions, the AC reviewed the following, where relevant, with 
the Executive Directors, the external auditors and the internal audit team:

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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a) The audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor, results of its audit and its report on the weaknesses 
of internal accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

b) The audit plan of the internal audit team, results of its audit and evaluation of the Group’s systems of 
internal accounting controls;

c) The nature and extent of the external auditors’ non-audit services to the Group, seeking to balance the 
maintenance of objectivity and value for money, as well as the assistance given by management to the 
external auditor;

d) The significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial statements;

e) The financial reports of the Group, prior to the submission to the Board, and assisting our Board in the 
discharge of its responsibilities on financial and accounting matters;

f) The adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function, and the adequacy of the Group’s 
internal financial controls, operational and compliance control, and risk management systems;

g) Interested person transactions and potential conflicts of interest, if any;

h) The hedging policies and instruments implemented by the Group;

i) Financial Assets, Held to Maturity to ensure that the Group’s financial performance and position are not 
compromised; and

j) Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors.

 The AC has reviewed and is satisfied with the level of co-operation rendered by the management to the external 
auditors, the adequacy of the scope and quality of their audits after having regard to the adequacy of the 
resources and experience of the auditors as well as the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. In 
the course of its review, the AC also met with the external auditors without the presence of the management, at 
least once a year.

 The Board, through its announcements of quarterly and full-year financial results, aims to provide shareholders 
with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects. The management 
provides the Board with quarterly management accounts for the Board’s review.

 The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments, the Company’s assets, and the need to review the adequacy and integrity of those 
systems regularly. In establishing and reviewing the system of internal control, the Board recognises that the 
system of internal control can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against the risk of material 
misstatement or loss.

 In accordance with the scope laid out in audit plan, the external auditors carry out a review of the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management 
in the course of their annual statutory audit. Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted 
during their audit are reported to the AC together with auditors’ recommendations.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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 The Group had also set up its own internal audit team to conduct a full review of its internal control and 
accounting system (the “Internal Audit Team”). The Internal Auditor Team reports audit conclusions directly to 
the AC. It reviews, identifies and analyses the risks incurred by the Group in its activities and examines if there are 
any material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses as well as monitoring the implementation. The 
AC will oversee and monitor implementation of any improvements thereto. The Directors and the AC are of the 
opinion that the current internal controls in place are adequate.

 The Company has developed a whistle-blowing policy. This policy provides well-defined and accessible channels 
in the Group through which employees may raise concerns about improper conduct within the Group.

 The AC, having reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied 
with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and recommends to the Board of Directors the 
nomination of the external auditors for re-appointment.

 The audit fee paid to independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Singapore for the audit of Group’s 
consolidated financial statement as at 31 December 2011 under Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) 
was S$550,000. The audit fee paid to independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Taiwan for the audit of 
Group’s consolidated financial statement as at 31 December 2011 under ROC GAAP was S$50,000. There was no 
non-audit fee paid to the independent auditors.

 Both AC and the Board have reviewed the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiary and/or significant 
associated companies and satisfied that the appointment of different auditors would not compromise the 
standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rules 
712, 715 and 716 of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST.

(D)  COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDER 

 Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders 
 Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

 The Board acknowledges the importance of regular communication with shareholders and investors 
through which shareholders can have an overview of the Group’s performance and operation. Information is 
communicated to shareholders on a timely basis through the Company’s annual report, circulars to shareholders 
(if any), quarterly financial results and the various announcements.

 At the AGM, shareholders are encouraged to meet the Board and raise questions or seek clarifications on any 
issues so as to understand the Group’s business. The members of the AC, NC and RC will be present to address 
shareholders’ queries relating to the work of these committees. Appropriate senior management will also be 
present at the AGM to respond, if necessary, to operational questions from shareholders. A shareholder who is 
entitled to attend and vote may either vote in person or through the appointment of one or two proxies. Voting 
in absentia and by electronic mail may only be possible following careful study to ensure that the integrity of 
the information and authentication of the identity of shareholder via the internet is not compromised. Separate 
resolutions are proposed on each separate issue at general meetings. Shareholders are encouraged to meet and 
communicate with the Board and to vote on all resolutions.

(E)  INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS 

 (Rule 907 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST) 

 The Group has adopted an internal policy which sets out the procedures for the identification, approval and 
monitoring of interested person transactions (“IPTs”). All IPTs are subject to review by the AC. The Company did 
not enter into any IPTs which require disclosure or shareholders’ approval under SGX-ST Listing Rules regulating 
IPTs during the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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(F)  RISK MANAGEMENT 

 (Rule 1207(4)(d) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST) 

 Currently, the Group does not have a Risk Management Committee. However, the management regularly 
reviews the Company’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well 
as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The management reviews all significant control 
policies and procedures and will highlight all significant matters to the Directors and the AC.

 Financial risk factors have been described in Notes 35 of the Financial Statements.

(G) MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

 (Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST) 

 Save for the service agreements between the Company and the Executive Directors and except as disclosed in 
the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements, there were no other material contracts of the Company and 
its subsidiaries involving the interests of the CEO or any Director or controlling shareholder, either subsisting 
at the end of the financial year or if not then subsisting, which were entered into since the end of the previous 
financial year.

(H)  SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 

 (Rule 1207(19) of the SGX-ST) 

 The Group has adopted an internal code (the “Internal Code”) on securities trading which provides guidance and 
internal regulation with regard to dealings in the Group’s securities by its Directors and employees. The Internal 
Code is modelled after SGX-ST’s Listing Rules on best practices on dealings in the Company’s securities. The 
Internal Code prohibits the Directors and employees from dealing in listed securities of the Company on short-
term considerations or while in possession of unpublished material or price-sensitive information. The Directors 
and employees are not allowed to deal in the Company securities during the period commencing two weeks 
before the date of announcement of its quarterly results and one month before the date of announcement of 
the full-year financial results and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results.

 The Company has complied with SGX-ST’s Listing Rules on best practices on dealing in the Company’s securities 
in the financial year ended 2011.

(I) CORPORATE DISCLOSURE 

 The Company believes that a high level of disclosure is essential to enhance the standard of corporate governance. 
Hence, the Company is committed to provide a high level of disclosure in all public announcements, press 
releases and annual reports.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2011.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Ren Yuanlin   
Wang Dong   
Xiang Jianjun 
Teo Moh Gin
Teo Yi-dar   
Yu Kebing  

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 
object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. 

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures 

(a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company for the purpose of section 164 of the 
Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year had 
any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Holdings registered in name  
of director or nominee

Holdings in which a director  
is deemed to have an interest

At 31.12.2011 At 01.01.2011 At 31.12.2011 At 01.01.2011

Company

(No. of ordinary shares)

Ren Yuanlin 2,200,000 300,000 1,000,000,000 1,067,754,000

Wang Dong - - 394,134,000 510,466,000

Xiang Jianjun - - 394,134,000 883,668,000

Teo Yi-dar 150,000 150,000 - -

Yu Kebing 300,000 - 54,876,000 54,876,000

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011



36

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (continued)

(b) Mr Ren Yuanlin who by virtue of his interest of not less than 20% of the issued capital of the Company, are 
deemed to have an interest in the share capital of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries and in the shares 
held by the Company in the subsidiary companies that are not wholly-owned by the Group as set out in Note 42 
to the financial statements.

(c) The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 January 2012 were the same as those as at 
31 December 2011.

Directors’ contractual benefits 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason 
of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member 
or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying financial 
statements and in this report.

Share options

There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company.

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of 
the Company. 

There were no unissued shares of the Company under option at the end of the financial year.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Teo Moh Gin (Chairman)
Teo Yi-dar
Yu Kebing

Two of the AC members are independent Directors and one is a non-executive Director.

The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act. In performing 
those functions, the AC reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive Directors:

(a) The audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor, results of its audit and any recommendations on internal 
accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

(b) The audit plan of the internal auditor, results of its audit and evaluation of the Group’s systems of internal 
accounting controls;

(c) The nature and extent of the independent auditors’ non-audit services to the Group, seeking to balance 
the maintenance of objectivity and value for money, as well as the assistance given by management to the 
independent auditor;

(d) The significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial statement;

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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Audit Committee (continued)

(e) The balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group, prior to the submission 
to the Board, and assisting our Board in the discharge of its responsibilities on financial and accounting matters;

(f) The adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function, and the adequacy of the Group’s internal 
financial controls, operational and compliance control, and risk management systems;

(g) Interested person transactions and potential conflicts of interest, if any;

(h) The hedging policies and instruments implemented by the Group;

(i) Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the independent 
auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the independent auditors.

The Audit Committee, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the independent auditor to the Group, is 
satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be 
nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

Independent auditor

The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

____________________________________ ____________________________________
REN YUANLIN     WANG DONG
Director      Director

23 March 2012

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011



38

In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 
40 to 120 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group 
as at 31 December 2011 and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the 
financial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

____________________________________ ____________________________________
REN YUANLIN     WANG DONG
Director      Director

23 March 2012

Statement by Directors
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 40 to 120, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet of 
the Group and balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2011, the consolidated income statement, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flow of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition, and transactions are properly authorised 
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance 
sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly 
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011, and the results, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 23 March 2012

Independent Auditor’s Report
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The Group

Note 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 4 15,705,828 13,558,184

Cost of sales 7 (10,843,133) (10,014,936)

Gross profit 4,862,695 3,543,248

 

Other income 5 150,067 240,796

Other gains - net 6 452,044 93,361

Expenses

- Administrative 7 (394,544) (221,351)

- Finance 9 (124,668) (25,103)

Share of profit/(loss) of associated companies and  
a jointly-controlled entity 23,24 52,887 (1,544)

 

Profit before income tax 4,998,481 3,629,407

Income tax expense 10 (988,089) (677,151)

Net profit 4,010,392 2,952,256

 

Profit attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 3,976,599 2,955,340

Non-controlling interests 33,793 (3,084)

4,010,392 2,952,256

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company 
(expressed in RMB cents per share)

- Basic and diluted 11 103.68 79.85

Consolidated Income Statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year 4,010,392 2,952,256

Other comprehensive income:

Cash flow hedges

- Fair value losses - (11,733)

- Transfer to income statement - 9,575

Currency translation differences arising from consolidation (1,180) -

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (1,180) (2,158)

Total comprehensive income 4,009,212 2,950,098

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 3,976,113 2,953,182

Non-controlling interests 33,099 (3,084)

4,009,212 2,950,098

Consolidated Statement Of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Group The Company

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12 3,152,365 4,543,038 47,285 74,053

Restricted cash 13 4,193,616 2,204,414 - -

Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 14 297,153 6,886 - -

Derivative financial instruments 20 123,953 304,012 - 100,740

Financial assets, available-for-sale 15 15,300 15,300 - -

Financial assets, held-to-maturity 16 6,558,090 5,190,441 - -

Trade and other receivables 17 7,594,902 5,042,002 5,183,772 1,330,648

Inventories 18 1,654,002 1,276,892 - -

Due from customers on construction contracts 19 751,815 329,028 - -

24,341,196 18,912,013 5,231,057 1,505,441

Non-current assets

Financial assets, held-to-maturity 16 3,915,070 3,424,300 - -

Derivative financial instruments 20 16,769 - 16,769 -

Lease prepayments 21 886,074 568,948 - -

Investments in subsidiaries 22 - - 5,613,954 5,076,318

Investment in a jointly-controlled corporation 23 287,207 349,249 287,207 349,249

Investments in associated corporations 24 300,046 212,839 - -

Property, plant and equipment 25 3,822,124 2,629,809 - -

Intangible assets 26 321 336 - -

Deferred income tax assets 30 170,197 70,560 - -

9,397,808 7,256,041 5,917,930 5,425,567

Total assets 33,739,004 26,168,054 11,148,987 6,931,008

Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Group The Company

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 20 74,849 426,442 29,173 97,821

Trade and other payables 27 3,276,396 3,627,812 306,394 613,944

Due to customers on construction contracts 19 6,421,764 9,378,067 - -

Advances received on construction contracts 19 19,954 417,999 - -

Borrowings 28 6,044,001 906,450 646,254 -

Provisions 29 655,644 411,803 - -

Current income tax liabilities 10 566,379 172,466 218,738 3,558

  17,058,987 15,341,039 1,200,559 715,323

Non-current liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 20 97,188 41,251 8,188 3,754

Borrowings 28 2,446,828 320,309 705,162 -

Deferred income tax liabilities 30 419,345 386,978 394,779 361,102

2,963,361 748,538 1,108,129 364,856

Total liabilities 20,022,348 16,089,577 2,308,688 1,080,179

NET ASSETS 13,716,656 10,078,477 8,840,299 5,850,829

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to equity 
holders of the Company

Share capital 31 6,263,016 6,263,016 6,227,799 6,227,799

Treasury shares 31 (20,979) (610) (20,979) (610)

Other reserves 32 (1,580,614) (2,014,268) (40,192) (40,192)

Retained earnings/(Accumulated loss) 8,312,583 5,680,116 2,673,671 (336,168)

12,974,006 9,928,254 8,840,299 5,850,829

Non-controlling interests 742,650 150,223 - -

Total equity 13,716,656 10,078,477 8,840,299 5,850,829

Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Group

Note 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit 4,010,392 2,952,256

Adjustments for:

- Income tax expenses 988,089 677,151

- Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 223,766 161,648

- Amortisation of lease prepayment 23,100 6,826

- Amortisation of intangible assets 175 141

- Interest expenses 137,631 20,910

- Fair value change on financial assets (132,366) 43,710

- Others (11,432) 84,568

- Provision of impairment loss for financial assets, held-to-maturity 554,280 -

- Share of (profit)/ loss of associated companies and a jointly-
controlled corporation (52,887) 1,544

- Impairment loss for a jointly-controlled corporation 62,042 -

5,802,790 3,948,754

Change in working capital, net of effects from acquisition of subsidiaries:

- Inventories (36,301) (315,136)

- Construction contract balances (3,777,135) (2,022,858)

- Trade and other receivables (1,731,305) 763,160

- Trade and other payables (961,798) 1,414,340

- Financial assets, held-to-maturity (2,332,699) (3,826,374)

- Provisions 243,841 236,722

- Restricted cash (1,989,202) 939,083

Cash (used in) / generated from operations (4,781,809) 1,137,691

Interest paid (137,631) (20,910)

Income tax paid (661,446) (410,965)

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (5,580,886) 705,816

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Group

Note 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 12,799 1,300

Proceeds from sales of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 6,886 653

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (497,972) (160,144)

Acquisition of financial assets, available-for-sale - (15,000)

Acquisition of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss (297,153) (1,814)

Acquisition of intangible assets (160) (134)

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 38 (243,720) (206,957)

Acquisition of a jointly-controlled corporation - (349,249)

Incorporation/acquisition of associated corporations (218,000) (163,638)

Dividend received from a jointly-controlled corporation 62,042 -

Net cash used in investing activities (1,175,278) (894,983)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares - 1,283,006

Capital injection by non-controlling interests - 151,800

Acquisition of equity interest in existing subsidiaries from non-controlling 
interests (147,000) -

Proceeds from borrowings 7,349,302 1,015,759

Repayments of borrowings (906,450) (907,077)

Purchase of treasury shares (20,369) -

Dividends paid to equity holders 33 (909,992) (618,238)

Net cash provided by financing activities 5,365,491 925,250

 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,390,673) 736,083

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year 12 4,543,038 3,806,955

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 12 3,152,365 4,543,038

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1. General information 

 The Company was incorporated in Singapore on 21 December 2005 as a private limited company under the 
name of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration No. 200517636Z).On 15 March 
2007, the Company was converted into a public company listed on the Singapore Exchange and changed its 
name to Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. 

 The Company is domiciled in Singapore and the address of its registered office is 80 Robinson Road, #02-00, 
Singapore 068898.

 The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and agency service for shipbuilding and related 
activities. The principal activities of the legal subsidiaries, primarily shipbuilding and related businesses and their 
abbreviation used in the financial statements are described in Note 42.

2.  Significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRS”).The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates and assumptions. Areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

 Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2011

 On 1 January 2011, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) that 
are mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made 
as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS. 

 The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s 
and Company’s accounting policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or 
prior financial years.

2.2 Revenue recognition

 Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and 
discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.Revenue is recognised as follows:

(a)  Revenue from construction contracts

 Contract revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the 
balance sheet date. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred 
to date, as compared to the estimated total costs for the contract. 

 Please refer to Note 2.8 “Construction Contracts” for the elaboration of accounting policy for revenue 
from construction contracts.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Revenue from sales of goods – Completed shipbuilding contracts

 Revenue from these sales is recognised when a Group entity has delivered the vessels to its customers 
and the customers have accepted the vessels in accordance with certain conditional and cancellable 
shipbuilding contracts. 

(c) Revenue from sales of goods – Materials and others

 Revenue from these sales is recognised when a Group entity has delivered the materials, such as steel, 
to its customers and the customers have accepted the materials in accordance with the sales contract. 

(d)  Interest income

 Interest income arising from financial instruments and loan to third parties is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(e)  Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.3  Group accounting

(a) Subsidiaries

(i) Consolidation

 Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power to 
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally 
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered 
when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date 
on which control ceases. 

 In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between Group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
but are considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

 Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a 
subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the 
equity holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a 
subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3  Group accounting (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

(ii) Acquisitions

 The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the 
Group.

 The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair value of 
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 
arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

 Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

 Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date.

 On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

 The excess of (i) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over 
(ii) the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please refer to 
the paragraph “Intangible assets - Goodwill” for the subsequent accounting policy on goodwill.

(iii) Disposals

 When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control 
over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are 
derecognised. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity 
are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings if required by a 
specific Standard.

 Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value is 
recognised in profit or loss.

 Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries, jointly-controlled corporations and 
associated corporations” for the accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3  Group accounting (continued)

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

 Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any difference 
between the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to the 
equity holders of the Company.

(c) Associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations

  Associated corporations are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, 
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not 
exceeding 50%. Jointly-controlled corporations are entities over which the Group has contractual 
arrangements to jointly share the control over the economic activities of the entities with one or more 
parties. Investments in associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations are accounted 
for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment 
losses, if any.

(i) Acquisitions

 Investments in associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations are initially 
recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, 
equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on associated corporations and jointly-
controlled corporations represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the associate and 
jointly-controlled corporations over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net 
assets of the associate and jointly-controlled corporations and is included in the carrying 
amount of the investments.

(ii) Equity method of accounting

 In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated corporations’ 
and jointly-controlled corporations’ post-acquisition profits or losses are recognised in profit 
or loss and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. These post-acquisition movements and distributions received from the 
associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations are adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated corporation or 
a jointly-controlled corporation equals or exceeds its interest in the associated corporation or 
a jointly-controlled corporation, including any other unsecured non-current receivables, the 
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has obligations or has made payments on 
behalf of the associated corporation or the jointly-controlled corporation.

 Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated corporations or jointly-
controlled corporations are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated 
corporations or jointly-controlled corporations. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The accounting 
policies of associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3  Group accounting (continued)

(c) Associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations (continued)

(iii) Disposals

 Investments in associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations are derecognised 
when the Group loses significant influence. Any retained interest in the entity is remeasured at 
its fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the retained investment at the date 
when significant influence or jointly control is lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

 Gains and losses arising from partial disposals or dilutions in investments in associated 
corporations and jointly-controlled corporations are recognised in profit or loss. 

 Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries, jointly-controlled corporations and 
associated corporations” for the accounting policy on investments in associated corporations 
and jointly-controlled corporations in the separate financial statements of the Company.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

(a) Measurement 

 All property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

(b) Components of costs 

 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price 
and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

(c) Depreciation 

 Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amount over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

      Useful lives

 Buildings    8 - 20 years

 Machinery    5 - 10 years

 Vehicles    5 - 12 years

 Furniture, fittings and equipment 5 - 12 years 

 The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

(d) Construction-in-progress

 Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or pending 
installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. This includes cost of 
construction, plant and equipment and other directly attributable costs. No provision for depreciation 
is made on construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for 
intended use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred to property, 
plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy stated above.

(e) Subsequent expenditure

 Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.All 
other repair and maintenance expense is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(f) Disposal 

 On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal 
proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss within “Other gains/(losses)-net”. 

2.5 Lease prepayment 

 Lease prepayment represents prepaid operating lease payments for land less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses.Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
the prepaid operating lease payments for land over a period of 50 years.

2.6 Intangibles

(a) Goodwill on acquisitions

 Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of (i) the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of the 
net identifiable assets acquired.

 Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries prior to 1 January 2010 and on acquisition of jointly-controlled 
corporations and associated corporations represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the 
fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired. 

 Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 

 Goodwill on associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations is included in the carrying 
amount of the investments. 

Notes To The Financial Statements
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.6 Intangibles (continued) 

(a) Goodwill on acquisitions (continued)

 Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries, associated corporations and jointly-controlled 
corporations include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold, except for goodwill 
arising from acquisitions prior to 1 January 2001. Such goodwill was adjusted against profits in the 
year of acquisitions and is not recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

(b) Computer software

 Acquired computer software licenses are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price 
(net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributed cost of preparing the asset for its 
intended use. Costs associated with maintaining the computer software are recognised as an expense 
as incurred.

 Computer software licenses are subsequently carried at cost less amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives of three to five years.

 The amortisation period and amortisation method of computer software licenses are reviewed at 
least at each balance sheet date.The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when the 
changes arise.

2.7 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method, except for those costs 
that are directly attributable to the construction contracts and other qualifying assets. 

2.8 Construction contracts

 A construction contract is a contract specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset or a combination 
of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and functions 
or their ultimate purpose or use.

 Contract costs are recognised when incurred.

 When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract 
costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of 
the contract activity at the balance sheet date (“percentage-of-completion method”). When the outcome 
of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of 
contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.When it is probable that total contract costs will 
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

 Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in the 
contract work and claims that can be measured reliably.A variation or a claim is only included in contract 
revenue when it is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an 
advanced stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Construction contracts (continued) 

 The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to date 
to the estimated total costs for the contract.Costs incurred during the financial year in connection with 
future activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when determining the stage of 
completion of a contract.Such costs are shown as construction contract work-in-progress on the balance 
sheet unless it is not probable that such contract costs are recoverable from the customers, in which case, 
such costs are recognised as an expense immediately.

 At the balance sheet date, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognised profit (less recognised loss) on 
each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where the cumulative costs incurred plus the 
recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is presented as due from 
customers on construction contracts.Where progress billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus 
recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on construction 
contracts.

 Progress billings not yet paid by customers are included within “trade receivables”.Advances received are 
included within “advances received on construction contracts”.

2.9 Investments in subsidiaries, jointly-controlled corporations and associated corporations

 Investments in subsidiaries, jointly-controlled corporations and associated corporations are carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet.On disposal of investments in 
subsidiaries, jointly-controlled corporations and associated corporations, the difference between disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

(a) Goodwill

 Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is indication that the goodwill may be impaired.

 For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating-units (“CGU”) expected to benefit from synergies arising from the business combination.

 An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds 
the recoverable amount of the CGU. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair 
value less cost to sell and value in-use.

 The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill 
allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the CGU.

 An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised as an expense and is not reversed in a subsequent 
period.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 

(b) Intangible assets

 Property, plant and equipment

 Investments in subsidiaries, associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations

 Intangible assets with finite life, property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries, 
associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations are tested for impairment whenever 
there is any indication or objective evidence that these assets may be impaired.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less 
cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, 
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

 If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

 The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment 
loss in profit or loss.

 An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. The carrying amount of an asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided 
that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.11 Financial assets

(a) Classification

 The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on 
the nature of the asset and the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and in the case of assets 
classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each balance sheet date.

(i) Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 

 This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at 
fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it 
is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. 

 Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that 
are managed and their performances are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 
documented Group’s investment strategy. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are presented as current assets if 
they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months after the balance 
sheet date.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued) 

(a) Classification (continued)

(ii) Loans and receivables 

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those 
maturing later than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current 
assets.Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and other receivables” (Note 17) and “cash 
and cash equivalents” (Note 12) on the balance sheet.

(iii) Financial assets, held-to-maturity 

 Financial assets, held-to-maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of financial 
assets, held-to-maturity, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-
sale. They are presented as non-current assets, except for those maturing within 12 months after 
the balance sheet date which are presented as current assets.

 (iv) Financial assets, available-for-sale

 Financial assets, available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

 Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on 
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale 
proceeds is recognised in profit or loss.Any amount in the fair value reserve relating to that asset is 
transferred to profit or loss.

(c) Initial measurement

 Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately as expenses. 

(d) Subsequent measurement

 Financial assets, available-for-sale and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and financial assets, held-to-maturity are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued) 

(d) Subsequent measurement (continued)

 Changes in the fair values of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss including the effects of 
currency translation, interest and dividend, are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise. 

 Interests and dividend income on financial assets, available-for-sale are recognised separately in 
profit or loss. Changes in fair values of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve, together 
with the related currency translation differences.

(e) Impairment

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such 
evidence exists.

(i) Loans and receivables 
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

 Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, 
and default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets 
are impaired. 

 The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance 
account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When 
the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in profit 
or loss.

 The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent 
period when the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be 
objectively measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the 
extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost had no impairment 
been recognised in prior periods.

(ii) Financial assets, available-for-sale

 In addition to the objective evidence of impairment described in Note 2.11(e)(i), a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an indicator 
that the available-for-sale financial asset is impaired. 

 If any evidence of impairment exists, the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. The cumulative loss is measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments and amortisation) 
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised as an expense. The 
impairment losses recognised as an expense on equity securities are not reversed through profit 
or loss. 
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)

(f) Offsetting financial instruments 

 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.12 Financial guarantees

 The Group (the “Guarantor”) may from time to time, issue corporate guarantees to banks for borrowings of 
their customers. These guarantees are financial guarantees as they require the Guarantor to reimburse the 
banks if the customers fail to make principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms 
of their borrowings.

 Financial guarantees are initially recognised at their fair values plus transaction costs in the Guarantor’s 
balance sheet. 

 Financial guarantees are subsequently amortised to profit or loss over the period of the customers’ 
borrowings, unless it is probable that the Guarantor will reimburse the bank for an amount higher than the 
unamortised amount. In this case, the financial guarantees shall be carried at the expected amount payable 
to the bank in the Guarantor’s balance sheet.

 Intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

2.13 Borrowings

 Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

 Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value (net of transaction costs incurred) and subsequently carried 
at amortised cost.Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.14 Trade and other payables

 Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end 
of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year 
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities.

 Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15  Derivative financial instruments

 A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into 
and is subsequently carried at their fair value. 

 Fair value changes on derivatives that are not designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

 The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between the hedging instruments 
and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategies for undertaking various hedge 
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, 
on whether the derivatives designated as hedging instruments are highly effective in offsetting changes in 
fair value or cash flows of the hedged items. 

 The Group enters, from time to time, into currency forwards that qualify as cash flow hedges against highly 
probable forecasted transactions in foreign currencies.The fair value changes on the effective portion of 
the currency forwards designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income, 
accumulated in the hedging reserve and transferred to profit or loss when the hedged forecast transactions 
are recognised.

 The fair value changes on the ineffective portion of currency forwards are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.When a forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gains and losses that were 
previously recognised in the hedging reserve are transferred to profit or loss immediately. 

 The carrying amount of a derivative designated as a hedge is presented as a non-current asset or liability 
of the remaining expected life of the hedged items is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or 
liability of the remaining expected life of the hedged items is less than 12 months.The fair value of a trading 
derivative is presented as a current asset or liability. 

2.16 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

 The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-
counter securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted 
market prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market prices for 
financial liabilities are the current asking prices.

 The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.Where appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, are 
also used to determine the fair values of the financial instruments. 

 The fair values of currency forwards are determined using actively quoted forward exchange rates. 

 The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying 
amounts.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.17 Operating leases

 Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of 
any incentives received from the lessor) are taken to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of 
the lease.

 Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the financial year in which they are 
incurred.

2.18 Inventories

 Inventories consist of raw materials and work-in-progress and are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.Cost is determined using the weighted average method.Inventories will be used in the 
construction contracts, therefore they are not written down to net realisable value when the market prices 
for those inventories falls below cost, if the overall construction contract is expected to be profitable. 

2.19 Income taxes

 Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

 Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

 A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
associated corporations and jointly-controlled corporations except where the Group is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

 A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 

 Deferred income tax is measured:

(a) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date; and

(b) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the 
balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

 Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expenses in profit or loss for the period, 
except to the extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised 
directly in equity.Deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition. 
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.20 Provisions

 Provisions for warranty, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

 The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products still under warranty at the 
balance sheet date. This provision is calculated based on historical experience of the level of repairs and 
replacements.

 Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in profit or 
loss when the changes arise.

2.21 Employee compensation 

 The Group’s contributions are recognised as employee compensation expense when they are due, unless 
they can be capitalised as an asset.

(a) Defined contribution plans

 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and the social 
security plans in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary 
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

 In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions 
borne by the Group are calculated based on certain percentages of the total salary of employees, 
subject to a certain ceiling, and are paid to the labour and social welfare authorities.

(b) Profit-sharing scheme

 Profit-sharing scheme is a performance incentive settled by cash pursuant to which certain Executive 
Directors and Executive Officers are each entitled, subject to the approval of the Remuneration 
Committee, to a shared performance bonus (the “Performance Bonus Pool”) in respect of each 
financial year, which is calculated based on the PBT. For this purpose, “PBT” refers to the consolidated 
profit before tax.

2.22 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency 

 Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). 
The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the 
Company. 
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.22 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

 Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation 
differences from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are 
recognised in profit or loss.

 Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the income statement 
within ”finance expenses”.  All other foreign exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are 
presented in the income statement within “other gain/(losses) – net”.

(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements 

 The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the reporting date;

(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions); and

(iii) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the currency translation reserve. 

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rates at the reporting date.

2.23 Segment reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
executive committee who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments.

2.24 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include 
cash on hand, deposits held with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change 
in value and other short-term highly liquid investments but exclude restricted cash.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.25 Share capital and treasury shares

 Ordinary shares classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are 
deducted against share capital account.

 When any entity within the Group purchases the Company’s ordinary shares (“treasury shares”), the 
consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental cost is presented as a component within 
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, until they are cancelled, sold or reissued.

 When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the 
share capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained 
earnings of the Company if the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company.

 When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued, the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the 
treasury shares account and the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable 
incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised in the capital reserve of the Company.

2.26 Dividends to the Company’s shareholders

 Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.

2.27 Government grants

 Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions. 

 Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the 
related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants relating to 
expenses are shown separately as other income. 

 Government grants relating to assets are recognised as deferred income on the balance sheet. 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

 Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Construction contracts

 The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its construction contracts. The 
stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred to date compared to the 
estimated total contract costs for the contract. 

 Significant assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs and the recoverable variation 
works that will affect the stage of completion and the contract revenue, respectively. In making these 
estimates, management have used their accumulative knowledge of the industry, market conditions, and 
its customers, and corroborated with the experience gained from the most recent deliveries. The amount 
of revenue recognised in the year would decrease/increase by RMB 379,494,000 and RMB 323,132,000 
respectively (2010: RMB 370,549,000 and RMB 276,090,000 respectively) if the total estimated contract cost 
were to increase/decrease by 10% (2010: 10%).
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets

(i) Trade receivables

 The Group’s management determines the allowance for impairment of trade receivables.Based on 
management’s assessment of the credit history of its customers and also that of the market conditions, 
it was determined that no allowance for impairment was required. 

(ii) Loans to third parties classified under “Trade and other receivables”

 Loans to third parties are the entrusted lendings to small and middle sized entitles by two susidiaries of the 
Group. 

 It is the Group’s policy to establish, through charges against profit, allowances in respect of estimated 
and inherent credit losses in its portfolio.

 In determining allowances, management considers objective evidence of impairment and exercises 
judgement in estimating cash flows and collateral value. When a loan is impaired, an allowance is 
assessed by using the discounted cash flow method, measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. The amount of allowance also takes into account the collateral value which 
may be discounted to reflect the impact of a forced sale or untimely liquidation.

 The impairment allowance shown in the consolidated statement of financial position at year end is 
derived from each of the five internal rating grades. The table below shows the associated impairment 
allowance for each category of the Group’s loan to third parties according to its internal grading and 
derived based on the expected inherent losses in its portfolio. 

The Group

2011 2010

Group’s rating

Category 1 - -

Category 2 2% 2%

Category 3 25% 25%

Category 4 50% 50%

Category 5 100% 100%

Refer to Note 35(b) on the credit risk information of loan to third parties by internal grading grades.

(iii) Financial assets, held-to-maturity

 The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 in determining when the financial assets, held-to-maturity 
are considered impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the counterparty, probability that the 
counterparty will enter bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payment are objective evidence 
that these financial assets, held-to-maturity is impaired. Allowance for impairment was provided 
based on management’s assessment of the credit history of its counter-parties, and that of the market 
conditions. Refer to Note 35(b) on the credit risk information in relation to these financial assets. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

(c) Taxation

 The Group applied a preferential tax rate of 15% for its subsidiary Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., 
Ltd (“JYS”) for the period from 2009 to 2011 on the basis of the granting of High and New Technology 
Enterprise status starting in 2010 (Note 10). The eligibility of this preferential tax rate is based on JYS meeting 
certain qualifying conditions, including the revenue targets of qualifying shipbuilding contracts. Based on 
management’s assessment of their operations, it was determined that JYS has met all those conditions. 

 The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions. In determining the income tax liabilities, 
management is required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility of certain 
expenses (“uncertain tax positions”) at these tax jurisdictions. As management believes that the tax 
positions are sustainable, the Group has not recognised any additional tax liability on these uncertain tax 
positions.

(d) Warranty provision

 The provision for warranty is based on estimates from known and expected warranty work and legal and 
constructive obligation for further work to be performed after completion. The warranty provision could 
differ from future claims. Movements in provision for warranty are detailed in Note 29.

4. Revenue 

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Construction contract 12,311,398 11,450,522 

Interest income from advances received on  
construction contracts (Note (i)) 302,803 75,972

12,614,201 11,526,494

Sales of goods- completed shipbuilding contracts 1,307,496 1,230,020

Sales of goods- materials and others 687,200 251,841

Reclassification from hedging reserve - (9,575)

14,608,897 12,998,780

Interest income from loans to third parties 180,053 19,253

Interest income from financial assets, held-to-maturity 916,878 540,151

Total revenue 15,705,828 13,558,184

(i) These interest incomes are directly attributable to financial assets, held-to-maturity which are purchased 
using advance payments from customers on construction contracts.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011



66

5. Other income

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income from cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 148,987 240,796

Dividend income 1,080 -

150,067 240,796

6. Other gains - net

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Foreign exchange gains – net (Note (a)) 763,040 193,746

Fair value change on derivative financial assets 132,366 (104,024)

Government grants 170,668 -

Impairment loss of financial assets, held-to-maturity (Note 16) (554,280) -

Impairment loss of investment in a jointly-controlled corporation 
(Note 23) (62,042) -

Fair value gain on financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss - 66

Others 2,292 3,573

452,044 93,361

(a) The foreign exchange gains mainly consist of realised fair value change on currency forwards and currency 
translation differences arising from transactions denominated in foreign currencies. For the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011, the realised fair value change on currency forwards is RMB 659,709,000 (2010: 
RMB 319,240,000). 
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7. Expenses by nature

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials and consumables used 8,401,812 7,954,361

Employee compensation (Note 8) 188,383 155,638

Outsourcing and processing fee 1,406,308 1,152,773

Other project-related fees and charges 371,690 390,516

Warranty (Note 29) 297,704 236,240

Utilities 125,490 109,802

Transportation expenses 20,973 6,043

Professional fees 5,455 5,950

Operating lease 2,440 2,128

Depreciation of plant, property and equipment (Note 25) 223,766 161,648

Amortisation of lease prepayments (Note 21) 23,100 6,826

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 26) 175 141

Impairment losses for loan to third parties 107,792 16,131

Interest on bank borrowings of micro-financing entities 31,714 2,307

Directors’ fees 443 450

Donations 5,380 800

Others 25,052 34,533

Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 11,237,677 10,236,287

8. Employee compensation

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and wages 59,667 43,287

Other employee benefits 54,575 57,906

Employer’s contributions to defined contribution plans (a) 23,651 16,818

Profit sharing scheme (b) 50,490 37,627

188,383 155,638

(a) Contributions to pension plans

 The employees of the Group who are employed in the PRC participate in a defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan organised by the relevant provincial government. For the financial year ended 31 December 
2011, the Group is required to make monthly defined contribution to these plans at 40.6% (2010: 40.6%) of 
certain employees’ monthly salaries and wages as stipulated by local rules and regulations. These pension 
contributions are expensed as incurred.

 The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits of 
employees or retirees other than the payments disclosed in this note.
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8. Employee compensation (continued)

(b) Profit-sharing scheme

 Profit-sharing scheme is a performance incentive settled by cash pursuant to which certain Executive 
Directors and Executive Officers, namely Ren Yuanlin, Wang Dong, Xiang Jianjun and Du Chengzhong 
(the “PSS Officers”), are each entitled, subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee, to the 
Performance Bonus Pool. 

Profit before tax (“PBT”) attained Performance Bonus Pool

Where the PBT does not exceed RMB600 million NIL

Where the PBT exceeds RMB600 million but does not exceed RMB700 million 0.5% of PBT

Where the PBT exceeds RMB700 million but does not exceed RMB800 million 0.75% of PBT

Where the PBT exceeds RMB800 million 1% of PBT

 The applicable Performance Bonus Pool for each financial year will be apportioned between Ren Yuanlin, 
Wang Dong, Xiang Jianjun, and Du Chengzhong depending on their involvement, role, responsibility 
and performance in the Group, subject to an annual review by the Remuneration Committee.Where the 
employment of any of the PSS Officers is not for a full financial year, his share of the applicable Performance 
Bonus Pool will be pro-rated accordingly.

9. Finance expenses 

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank borrowings 137,631 20,910

Foreign currency exchange (gains)/losses - net (12,963) 4,193

124,668 25,103

10. Income tax

 The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising or derived from the tax jurisdiction in 
which the Group entities are domiciled and operates in. According to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC 
(the “new CIT Law”) which became effective from 1 January 2008, the income tax rate for the Group in 2011 was 
25% (2010: 25%).

 In accordance with the approval from the relevant PRC tax authority, the Group’s subsidiary, JYS, was granted an 
income tax exemption for 2004 and 2005 and a 50% reduction in income tax rate for the three years from 2006 to 
2008. Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JNYS”) has no taxable profits in 2007 and therefore the income 
tax exemption is for 2008 and 2009 and a 50% reduction in income tax rate for the three years from 2010 to 2012. 
Although Jiangsu Yangzi Changbo Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JCSC”) did not become profitable before 1 January 
2008, its two-year income tax exemption period was treated as having started from 1 January 2008 instead of the 
time JCSC first become profitable under the new CIT Law. Hence, the two-year income tax exemption period for 
JCSC was 2008 and 2009, following by a 50% reduction in income tax rate for the three years from 2010 to 2012.
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10. Income tax (continued)

 In 2010, JYS obtained the High and New Technology Enterprise Certificate with a valid term of three years 
starting from 2009. Therefore, JYS is entitled to a reduced income tax rate of 15% from 2009 to 2011, as long as 
it maintains its qualification as a “High and New Technology Enterprise” under the new CIT Law. 

(a) Income tax expense

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Income tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:

Current income tax 840,179 499,667

Deferred income tax 147,910 177,484

988,089 677,151

 The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the amount that would arise using the PRC income tax rate 
applicable to profit of the main operating legal subsidiaries in PRC due to the following:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before tax 4,998,481 3,629,407

Tax calculated at the applicable tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) 1,249,620 907,352

Effect of tax exemption and reduced tax rate (545,449) (421,593)

Tax refund due to the reduced tax rate - (45,284)

Withholding tax (Note 30) 248,857 204,258

Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 28,962 26,353

Others 6,099 6,065

988,089 677,151

(b) Movement in current income tax liabilities

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 172,466 69,906

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 13,858

Income tax paid (661,446) (410,965)

Transfer from deferred tax liabilities (Note 30) 215,180 -

Current tax expense 840,179 499,667

As at 31 December 566,379 172,466
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11. Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

The Group

2011 2010

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (RMB’000) 3,976,599 2,955,340

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic 
earnings per share (‘000) 3,835,588 3,700,765

Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) 103.68 79.85

 Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as at the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011 
as the Company has no potential dilutive ordinary shares.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at bank and on hand 3,119,309 3,425,099 47,285 74,053

Short term bank deposits 33,056 1,117,939 - -

3,152,365 4,543,038 47,285 74,053

 The weighted average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits, with a short maturity date of 7 days to 
less than 12 months (2010: 7 days to less than 12 months) was 3.25% (2010: 2.22%).

 The Group’s cash denominated in RMB is deposited with banks in the PRC. The conversion of these RMB 
-denominated balances into foreign currencies is subject to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations 
promulgated by the PRC government.

13. Restricted cash

 The restricted cash was held in designated bank accounts under the name of the Group as deposits for 
performance guarantees, letters of credits and borrowings.

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted cash 4,193,616 2,204,414 - -

 The weighted average effective interest rate on restricted cash, with a maturity of 180 days to one year (2010: 180 
days to one year), was 3.22% (2010: 2.25%).
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14.  Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

At fair value on initial recognition:

Investment in listed securities in PRC (Note (a)) 297,153 -

Held for trading:

Investment in listed securities in PRC - 2,336

Investment in funds (Note (b)) - 4,550

297,153 6,886

(a) The Group invested in restricted ordinary shares of one China A-Share listed company in November 2011 
with total cost of RMB 297,153,000. These shares cannot be traded in the market within the first 12 months 
as stated in the investment agreement with the parent company of the listed company. Meanwhile, a 
guarantee was obtained from the parent company to guarantee the Group to achieve a minimum of 20% 
capital gains if this investment is to be disposed of between 12 to 15 months subsequent to the acquisition 
date, but subject to meeting certain conditions. 

 Management designated this investment as financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss at inception, 
and there was no material change in fair value as of 31 December 2011. 

(b) As at 31 December 2010, investment in funds represented quoted funds issued by Great Wall Fund 
Management Co., Ltd in PRC. All financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss, held for trading as at 31 
December 2010, were fully disposed in 2011.

15.  Financial assets, available-for-sale 

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 15,300 300

Addition - 15,000

As at 31 December 15,300 15,300

 Financial assets, available-for-sale comprised of unlisted equity investments. 

 There is no active market for the unlisted equity investments.Based on the directors’ assessment of the valuation 
of the unlisted equity investments, the carrying amounts of the investments approximated their fair values.
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16. Financial assets, held-to-maturity

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current 

Unlisted investment funds 6,818,120 5,190,441

Less: Allowance for impairment loss (260,030) -

6,558,090 5,190,441

Non-current 

Unlisted investment funds 4,209,320 3,424,300

Less: Allowance for impairment loss (294,250) -

3,915,070 3,424,300

 Unlisted investment funds represent fixed-interest investments through financial institutions. 

 The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s investments in financial assets, held-to-maturity 
(gross) into relevant maturity groupings on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual 
maturity date.

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 6,818,120 5,190,441

Between one year to two years 3,699,320 2,024,300

Over two years 510,000 1,400,000

11,027,440 8,614,741

 The interest rate per annum for the Group’s investments in financial assets, held-to-maturity (gross) comparing 
with the benchmark rate published by The People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”) is analysed as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Comparing with the PBOC benchmark rate

- No more than 1x 300,000 500,000

- More than 1x but no more than 2x 3,263,200 3,018,200

- More than 2x but no more than 3x 6,799,240 4,876,541

- More than 3x 665,000 220,000

11,027,440 8,614,741

 The benchmark rate is the PBOC’s one-year borrowing rate, which is 6.56% per annum as at 31 Dec 2011 (2010: 
5.81% per annum). 
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16. Financial assets, held-to-maturity (continued)

 The fair value of the unlisted investment funds based on the discounted cash flows using market interest rate of 
6.65% (2010: 5.85% per annum) for an equivalent investment at the balance sheet date are as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted investment funds 10,561,192 8,495,453

17. Trade and other receivables

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Loan to third parties (i) 1,523,925 461,639 - -

Trade receivables 

- Customers 188,186 196,565 - -

- Agents 59,182 61,951 - -

Other receivables

- Subsidiaries - - 5,179,572 1,310,982

- Associated corporations 
(Note 36) - 13,060 - -

- Non-controlling interests 
(Note 36) 59,584 159,836 - -

- Non-related parties 86,920 46,163 109 -

Other assets

- Tax recoverable 791,838 436,148 - -

- Deposits 206,622 200,000 9 -

- Others 26,584 193,403 - 28

Prepayments (ii) 4,652,061 3,273,237 4,082 19,638

7,594,902 5,042,002 5,183,772 1,330,648

(i) Loans to third parties are entrusted lending to small and middle sized entities by Jiangsu Runyuan Rural 
Micro-finance Co., Ltd. (“JRRM”) incorporated in July 2010 and Wuxi Runyuan Technology Micro-finance 
Co., Ltd. (“WRTM”)acquired in August 2011. 

(ii) Prepayments represent advances paid to suppliers for the purchase of raw materials, such as steel, imported 
equipment to be installed in the vessels, and other materials for the Group’s shipbuilding activities.

 The amounts due from subsidiaries, associated corporations and non-controlling interests are unsecured, 
interest-free and have no fixed term of repayment. 
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18. Inventories

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 1,059,485 700,343

Work-in-progress 594,517 576,549

1,654,002 1,276,892

 Raw materials consist mainly of metal steel products and fuel which are used in the Group’s shipbuilding activities. 
Work-in-progress consists of vessels under construction that at the balance sheet date are under conditional and 
cancellable contracts.The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounts to 
RMB 8,401,812,000 (2010: RMB 7,954,361,000).

19. Due from/(to) customers on construction contracts

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Aggregate costs incurred and profits recognised (less losses 
recognised) to date 4,364,795 3,739,908

Less: Progress billings (10,034,744) (12,788,947)

(5,669,949) (9,049,039)

Presented as:

Due from customers on construction contracts 751,815 329,028

Due to customers on construction contracts (6,421,764) (9,378,067)

(5,669,949) (9,049,039)

Advances received on construction contracts (19,954) (417,999)

Notes To The Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011



75

20. Derivative financial instruments

Contract 
notional 
amount

Fair value

Assets Liabilities

Current Non-current Current Non-current

RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

2011

Non-hedging instruments

- Embedded derivatives 569,816 - - (31,689) (83,513)

- Currency forwards 35,680,787 123,953 16,769 (25,355) -

- Interest rate swaps 976,640 - - (13,987) (13,675)

- Currency options 680,497 - - (3,818) -

Total 37,907,740 123,953 16,769 (74,849) (97,188)

2010

Non-hedging instruments

- Embedded derivatives 1,283,533 - - (101,514) (37,497)

- Currency forwards 70,537,824 304,012 - (324,928) (3,754)

Total 71,821,357 304,012 - (426,442) (41,251)

Company

2011

Non-hedging instruments

- Currency forwards 24,087,131 - 16,769 (25,355) -

- Interest rate swaps 693,099 - - - (8,188)

- Currency options 680,497 - - (3,818) -

25,460,727 - 16,769 (29,173) (8,188)

2010

Non-hedging instruments

- Currency forwards 29,738,084 100,740 - (97,821) (3,754)

(a) Embedded foreign currency derivatives are Euro (“EUR”) payment features embedded in the host 
shipbuilding contract. 

(b) Interest rate swaps are transacted to manage the Group’s variable quarterly interest payments on 
borrowings.

(c) The contract notional amount included above is on a gross basis. Included above are RMB 22,305,186,000 
(2010: RMB 56,094,269,000) of currency forward contracts that are off-setting in nature. The remaining 
contracts are entered into mainly to manage the foreign currency risk arising from shipbuilding contracts 
and borrowings entered by the Group.
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21. Lease prepayments

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Land use rights

Cost

As at 1 January 590,052 398,595

Addition 65,315 20,000

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38) 274,911 171,457

As at 31 December 930,278 590,052

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 January (21,104) (14,278)

Amortisation charge (23,100) (6,826)

As at 31 December (44,204) (21,104)

Net book value at 31 December 886,074 568,948

 The Group’s interest in land use rights in the PRC is held on leases for 50 years. The addition of lease prepayments 
from acquisition of subsidiaries is recorded at net book value, which is amortised over the remaining lease period. 

22. Investments in subsidiaries 

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investment at cost 

As at 1 January 5,076,318 4,526,196

Additions 537,636 550,122

As at 31 December 5,613,954 5,076,318

  Details of significant subsidiaries are included in Note 42. 
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23. Investment in a jointly-controlled corporation

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investment at cost 349,249 349,249

Less: impairment (62,042) -

287,207 349,249

Beginning of financial year 349,249 -

Addition - 349,249

Dividends received (62,042) -

Share of profits 62,042 -

Impairment loss (62,042) -

287,207 349,249

(a) Acquisition of PPL Holdings Pte Ltd (“PPLH”)

 On 27 October 2010, the Company acquired 45% of the PPLH shares from Baker Technology Limited (the 
“Vendor”) for an aggregate cash consideration of USD 52,312,500 (equivalent to RMB 349,249,000). The 
Company entered into an agreement which QD Asia Pacific Ltd (“QD Asia”) to hold the Company’s 45% 
equity interest in PPLH in trust. The Company also entered into an agreement with QD Asia for the option 
to purchase an additional 5.1% of PPLH shares for an aggregate cash consideration of USD 5,928,570. 

 PPLH holds in the aggregate, both directly, and indirectly through E-Interface Holdings Ltd (“E-Interface”), 
its wholly-owned subsidiary, a 15% equity interest in PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd (“PSPL”). The other 85% equity 
interest is held by Sembcorp Marine Ltd (“SCM”).

 A dividend of RMB 62,042,000 was distributed by PPLH to the Company in April 2011.

(b) Legal suit between SCM, PPLH and E-Interface (the “Suit”)

 On 15 May 2010, SCM commenced legal proceeding against PPLH and E-interface. PPLH has disputed SCM’s 
claim which can be summarised into two broad areas. The first is that SCM has the right to purchase the 
shares of PSPL owned by PPLH for SGD 59,433,522 and that the right had been triggered when the Vendor 
accepted the offer from the Company to acquire PPLH which directly and indirectly through E-Interface 
owns 15% of PSPL. The second relates to the Joint Venture Agreement (“JVA”) between SCM and PPLH which 
SCM claims had been terminated when the PPLH nominated directors released confidential information to 
the Company in breach of the confidentiality provisions of the JVA.

 The evidential hearing ended on 5 October 2011, and SCM, PSPL, PPLH and E-Interface had filed their 
written response on and before 27 January 2012. As of the date of the financial statements authorised for 
issue, there is no judgement announced by the Court and the Company is not a party to the Suit.
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23. Investment in a jointly-controlled corporation (continued)

(c)  Impairment loss

 According to the Amendment and Novation Agreement in Respect of the Sale and Purchase of Shares in 
PPLH, the Vendor shall indemnify PPLH or the Company against any damages which PPLH or the Company 
may be held legally liable to pay to SCM for any loss and damage including legal costs caused to SCM by 
the Suit. In case the Court judge SCM is entitled to acquire the 15% interests of PSPL and the JVA between 
SCM and PPLH is not valid, the recoverable amount of the Company’s investment in PPLH would be the 
consideration paid of RMB 349,249,000 less the dividends received after the acquisition of RMB 62,042,000, 
equal to RMB 287,207,000. The Company provided impairment losses accordingly. 

(d) Summarised financial information of jointly-controlled corporations

 The Group’s investments in the jointly-controlled corporations are equity accounted for in the consolidated 
balance sheet and profit or loss.

 The following amounts represent the Group’s share of 45% of the assets and liabilities and revenues and 
expenses of the jointly-controlled corporation as at 31 December 2011.

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets 

- Current assets 1,545 35,199

- Non-current assets 160,310 126,656

161,855 161,855

Liabilities (28) (28)

Net assets 161,827 161,827

Income 62,582 -

Expenses (540) -

Net gains 62,042 -

 Details of the jointly-controlled corporation are included in Note 42.
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24. Investments in associated corporations

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 212,839 50,745

Additions 218,000 163,638

Step acquisitions (Note 38) (121,638) -

Share of losses (9,155) (1,544)

As at 31 December 300,046 212,839

 The summarised financial information of associated corporations, not adjusted for the proportional ownership 
interest held by the Group, is as follows:

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets 1,384,664 1,132,327

Liabilities (10,402) (90,753)

Revenue 64,720 11,230

Net loss (44,373) (7,076)

Details of associated corporations are provided in Note 42.
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25.  Property, plant and equipment 

The Group

Buildings Machinery Vehicles

Furniture, 
fittings and 
equipment

Construction 
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2011

Cost 

As at 1 January 2011 1,902,964 1,005,519 78,906 53,086 104,075 3,144,550

Acquisition of subsidiaries 
 (Note 38) 11,966 63,358 3,182 1,674 916,042 996,222

Additions 9,639 19,040 75,053 6,153 322,773 432,658

Transfers 67,771 11,083 - 3,822 (82,676) -

Disposals (5,635) (11,749) - (456) - (17,840)

As at 31 December 2011 1,986,705 1,087,251 157,141 64,279 1,260,214 4,555,590

Accumulated depreciation 

As at 1 January 2011 (253,706) (229,160) (22,878) (8,997) - (514,741)

Additions (97,879) (102,302) (13,303) (10,282) - (223,766)

Disposals 1,645 3,275 - 121 - 5,041

As at 31 December 2011 (349,940) (328,187) (36,181) (19,158) - (733,466)

Net book value

As at 31 December 2011 1,636,765 759,064 120,960 45,121 1,260,214 3,822,124

2010

Cost

As at 1 January 2010 1,308,628 681,246 63,142 21,317 252,439 2,326,772

Acquisition of subsidiaries 489,649 233,085 12,178 28,058 18,928 781,898

Additions 2,147 14,634 3,970 2,722 20,806 44,279

Transfers 102,557 84,295 3 1,243 (188,098) -

Disposals (17) (7,741) (387) (254) - (8,399)

As at 31 December 2010 1,902,964 1,005,519 78,906 53,086 104,075 3,144,550

Accumulated depreciation 

As at 1 January 2010 (177,220) (161,705) (15,797) (5,470) - (360,192)

Additions (76,503) (73,942) (7,430) (3,773) - (161,648)

Disposals 17 6,487 349 246 - 7,099

As at 31 December 2010 (253,706) (229,160) (22,878) (8,997) - (514,741)

Net book value

As at 31 December 2010 1,649,258 776,359 56,028 44,089 104,075 2,629,809

Notes To The Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011



81

26. Intangible assets

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Computer Software

Cost

As at 1 January 830 696

Additions 160 134

As at 31 December 990 830

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 January (494) (353)

Amortisation charge (175) (141)

As at 31 December (669) (494)

Net book value at 31 December 321 336

 The amortisation charges are classified as administrative expenses in profit or loss. 

27. Trade and other payables

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables

- Suppliers 1,896,135 2,084,526 - -

- Associated corporations (Note 36) 4,028 - - -

- Notes payables 292,730 36,852 - -

Other payables

-Subsidiaries - - 233,949 302,615

-Associated corporations (Note 36) - 48,062 - -

-Non-controlling interests (Note 36) 48,838 274,051 - -

-Other related parties (Note 36) 5,231 5,231 5,231 5,231

-Non-related parties 614,410 791,831 11,242 220,000

Other operating accruals 415,024 387,259 55,972 86,098

3,276,396 3,627,812 306,394 613,944

 Notes payables are bills of exchange with average maturity dates of less than 6 months.

 The amounts due to subsidiaries, associated corporations, non-controlling interests and other related parties are 
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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28. Borrowings

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Current

Bank borrowings (secured)(i) 4,523,104 851,840 646,254 -

Bank borrowings (unsecured) 1,520,897 54,610 - -

6,044,001 906,450 646,254 -

Non-current

Bank borrowings (secured)(i) 993,733 231,558 705,162 -

Bank borrowings (unsecured) 65,695 88,751 - -

Corporation bonds (unsecured) (ii) 1,387,400 - - -

2,446,828 320,309 705,162 -

8,490,829 1,226,759 1,351,416 -

(i) The secured bank borrowings are secured by certain restricted cash. 

(ii) On 20 December 2011, JNYS issued unsecured corporation bonds with a nominal value of RMB 1.4 billion. 
The bonds are denominated in RMB and the principal will be due for repayment after 3 years. Interest 
is fixed at 6.05% per annum and is payable at the end of every year. Besides, the bonds have no other 
conversion or redemption features.  

(a) The weighted average effective interest rates of bank borrowings at the respective balance sheet dates 
were as follows:

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Bank borrowings

Current

- USD 4.48% 3.23% 2.72% -

- RMB 6.47% 4.05% - -

Non-current

- USD 2.91% 3.78% 1.98% -

- RMB 6.98% - - -
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28. Borrowings (continued)

(b) The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate risks are categorised by maturity dates as follow:

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

- Six months or less 3,501,149 513,820 646,254 -

- Six months to one year 2,542,852 392,630 - -

- One to three years 2,446,828 320,309 705,162 -

8,490,829 1,226,759 1,351,416 -

(c) Fair value of non-current borrowings

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank borrowings

- USD 976,997 337,203 686,145 -

- RMB 58,807 - - -

Corporation bonds 1,377,814 - - -

 The fair value is determined from the cash flow analyses discounted at market borrowing rate of an 
equivalent instrument at the balance sheet date which the directors expect to be available to the Group. 
The discount rates are as follows:

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Bank borrowings

- USD 2.04% 3.10% 2.04% -

- RMB 6.65% - - -
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29. Provisions 

The Group
2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000
Warranty 655,644 411,803

 The Group provides warranties on completed and delivered vessels and undertakes to repair or replace items 
that fail to perform satisfactorily.A provision is recognised at the balance sheet date for expected warranty claims 
based on past experience of the level of repairs. 

 Movement in provision for warranty is as follows: 

The Group
2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 1 January 411,803 188,296
Acquisition of subsidiary - 1,527
Reversal of provision (40,034) -
Provision made 297,704 236,240
Provision utilised (13,829) (14,260)
As at 31 December 655,644 411,803

30. Deferred income tax 

The Group The Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets 

- to be recovered within one year (107,010) (67,947) - -
- to be recovered after one year (63,187) (2,613) - -

(170,197) (70,560) - -

Deferred tax liabilities
- to be settled after one year 419,345 386,978 394,779 361,102

 Movements in deferred income tax accounts during the year are as follow:

The Group The Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 1 January 316,418 119,445 361,102 156,844
Acquisition of subsidiary - 19,489 - -
Charged to income statement 147,910 177,484 248,857 204,258
Transfer to current income tax liabilities (215,180) - (215,180) -
As at 31 December 249,148 316,418 394,779 361,102
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30. Deferred income tax(continued)

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through the 
future taxable profit is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of RMB 71,830,000 (2010: RMB55,475,000) 
at the balance sheet date which can be carried forward and used to offset against future taxable income subject 
to meet certain statutory requirements by those companies with unrecognised tax losses in their respective 
countries of incorporation.The tax losses of RMB20,766,000, RMB23,877,000 and RMB27,187,000 will expire in 
2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively. 

 The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax 
jurisdiction) is as follows:

Group

Deferred income tax assets

Impairment 
losses

Fair value 
losses - net Warranty Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2011

Beginning of financial year - (14,538) (56,022) (70,560)

Charged to profit or loss (89,348) 12,376 (22,665) (99,637)

End of financial year (89,348) (2,162) (78,687) (170,197)

2010

Beginning of financial year - (22,609) (21,981) (44,590)

Acquisition of subsidiary - - (6,387) (6,387)

Charged to profit or loss - 8,071 (27,654) (19,583)

End of financial year - (14,538) (56,022) (70,560)

Deferred income tax liabilities 

Fair value 
gains - net

Withholding 
tax Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2011

Beginning of financial year 25,876 361,102 386,978

Charged to profit or loss (1,310) 248,857 247,547

Transfer to current income tax liabilities - (215,180) (215,180)

End of financial year 24,566 394,779 419,345

2010

Beginning of financial year 7,191 156,844 164,035

Acquisition of subsidiary 25,876 - 25,876

Charged to profit or loss (7,191) 204,258 197,067

End of financial year 25,876 361,102 386,978
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30. Deferred income tax (continued)

Company 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Withholding tax

RMB’000

2011

Beginning of financial year 361,102

Charged to profit or loss 248,857

Transfer to current income tax liabilities (215,180)

End of financial year 394,779

2010

Beginning of financial year 156,844

Acquisition of subsidiary -

Charged to profit or loss 204,258

End of financial year 361,102

31. Share capital

Number of shares Amount

Issued share 
capital Treasury shares Share capital Treasury shares

‘000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

2011

As at 1 January 3,837,077 (239) 6,263,016 (610)

Treasury shares purchased - (5,000) - (20,369)

As at 31 December 3,837,077 (5,239) 6,263,016 (20,979)

2010

As at 1 January 3,653,522 (239) 4,980,010 (610)

Share issues (Note(a)) 183,555 - 1,314,054 -

Share issue expenses - - (31,048) -

As at 31 December 3,837,077 (239) 6,263,016 (610)
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31. Share capital (continued)

Number of shares Amount

Issued share 
capital Treasury shares Share capital Treasury shares

‘000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Company

2011

As at 1 January 3,837,077 (239) 6,227,799 (610)

Treasury shares purchased - (5,000) - (20,369)

As at 31 December 3,837,077 (5,239) 6,227,799 (20,979)

2010

As at 1 January 3,653,522 (239) 4,944,793 (610)

Share issues (Note(a)) 183,555 - 1,314,054 -

Share issue expenses - - (31,048) -

As at 31 December 3,837,077 (239) 6,227,799 (610)

(a) Ordinary shares

 On 3 September 2010, pursuant to the issue of Taiwan Depository Receipts (“TDRs”), the Company allotted 
and issued 100,000,000 new ordinary shares at New Taiwan Dollar (“NT$”)18.8 each. The total proceeds 
from the issue of TDRs was NT$3,760,000,000, equivalent to RMB795,614,000. 

 On 27 October 2010, the Company allotted and issued 83,555,000 new ordinary shares at SGD1.295 each to 
QD Asia. The total proceeds received from the placement were RMB518,440,000. 

 All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.There is no par value for these ordinary shares.

32. Other reserves

(a) Foreign statutory reserve

 This reserve pertains to those profit appropriation prior to April 2006, since when all the Group’s subsidiaries 
were considered as Wholly-Owned Foreign Entity (“WOFE”). 

 Since the date of incorporation to April 2004, JYS was a PRC domestic company, which was required to 
provide statutory surplus reserve and statutory public welfare reserve.Between April 2004 and March 2006, 
JYS was a joint venture using Chinese and foreign investment, which was required to provide reserve fund 
and enterprise expansion fund, but was no longer subject to the provision of statutory surplus reserve and 
statutory public welfare reserve. Since April 2006, JYS was considered as a WOFE, which was required to 
appropriate 10% of net profit as reserve fund only. 

 JNYS was considered as a joint venture using Chinese and foreign investment since the date of incorporation 
to March 2006, which was required to provide reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund. Since April 2006, 
JYS was considered as a WOFE, which was required to appropriate 10% of net profit as reserve fund only.

 JCSC was considered as a joint venture using Chinese and foreign investment since the date of incorporation, 
which was required to provide reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund. 
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32. Other reserves (continued)

(a) Foreign statutory reserve (continued)

 All the other subsidiaries in PRC are considered as WOFE since the date of incorporation. They are required 
to appropriate 10% of net profit as reserve fund only. 

 All subsidiaries which are considered as WOFE may discontinue the contribution to the reserve fund when 
the aggregate sum more than 50% of their registered capital in accordance with the “Law of the PRC on 
Enterprise Operated Exclusively with Foreign Capital”.

(b) Capital reserve

 Capital reserve represents capital investments and distributions relating to equity transactions with 
shareholders. Included within is also RMB200,689,000 arising from reverse acquisition of JYS in 2007.

(c) Hedging reserve

 Hedging reserve represents the reserve for recording fair value changes on the effective portion of the 
currency forwards designated as cash flow hedge. 

(d) Currency translation reserve

 Currency translation reserve represents the currency translation differences resulting from the translation 
of the Group entities’ financial statements that have a functional currency different from the Group’s 
presentation currency. 

33. Dividends

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Ordinary dividends paid 

Final exempt dividend paid in respect of the previous financial 
year of SGD 4.5 cents (2010: SGD3.5 cents) per share 909,992 618,238

 A final exempt (one-tier) dividend of SGD 5.5 cents per share amounting to approximately SGD 210,751,000 
(equivalent of RMB 1,018,012,000) has been recommended for the shareholders’ approval at the Annual General 
Meeting on 27 April 2012.These financial statements do not reflect this dividend, which will be accounted for in 
shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2012.
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34. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

 Capital expenditure contracted for at balance sheet date but not yet incurred are as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 38,901 28,741

In relation to interest in an associated corporation - 18,000

38,901 46,741

(b) Operating lease commitments - where the Group is a lessee

 JYS’s land and port line use rights are under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. 

 The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

No later than 1 year 1,701 2,128

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 2,249 3,768

Later than 5 years 1,551 1,733

5,501 7,629

35. Financial risk management 

 Financial risk factors 

 The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from the 
unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses financial instruments 
such as currency forwards, interest rate swaps and foreign currency borrowings to manage certain financial risk 
exposures.

 The management is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk management 
for the Group, including establishing operating guidelines governing the hedging activities of the Group, such as 
risk identification and measurement, hedging strategies, oversight responsibilities, authority levels and exposure 
limits.
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

 The Group has shipbuilding contracts with customers around the world and is exposed to currency 
risk mainly arising from USD and EUR. The Group aims to mitigate the currency risk by entering into 
currency forwards, in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policies.

 The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided by key management is as follows:

RMB USD EUR SGD Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
At 31 December 2011
Financial assets
Trade and other 

receivables 2,918,639 22,949 1,253 - 2,942,841
Due from customers 

on construction 
contracts 242,062 365,980 143,773 - 751,815

Financial assets, at fair 
value  through profit 
or loss 297,153 - - - 297,153

Financial assets, available-
for-sale 15,300 - - - 15,300

Financial assets, held-to-
maturity 10,473,160 - - - 10,473,160

Restricted cash 3,750,092 402,073 41,451 - 4,193,616
Cash and cash 

equivalents 2,275,090 849,528 12,657 15,090 3,152,365
19,971,496 1,640,530 199,134 15,090 21,826,250

Financial liabilities
Borrowings (4,612,746) (3,878,083) - - (8,490,829)
Trade and other payables (3,259,207) (5,559) (2,346) (9,284) (3,276,396)

(7,871,953) (3,883,642) (2,346) (9,284) (11,767,225)
Net financial assets/

(liabilities) 12,099,543 (2,243,112) 196,788 5,806 10,059,025
Less: Net financial assets 

denominated in the 
respective entities’ 
functional currency (12,099,543) (13,511) - -

Add: Highly probable 
forecast transactions 
in foreign currencies - 14,154,880 - -

Less: Currency forwards 
excluding those are 
off-setting in nature 
(Note 20(b)) - (13,375,601) - -

Currency exposure - (1,477,344) 196,788 5,806
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

 The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

RMB USD EUR SGD Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

At 31 December 2010

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 1,742,077 25,214 1,474 - 1,768,765

Due from customers on 
construction contracts 54,925 209,728 64,375 - 329,028

Financial assets, at fair value  
through profit or loss 6,886 - - - 6,886

Financial assets, available-for-sale 15,300 - - - 15,300

Financial assets, held-to-maturity 8,614,741 - - - 8,614,741

Restricted cash 2,159,096 31,953 13,365 - 2,204,414

Cash and cash equivalents 4,354,984 121,588 62,572 3,894 4,543,038

16,948,009 388,483 141,786 3,894  17,482,172

Financial liabilities

Borrowings (196,000) (1,030,759) - - (1,226,759)

Trade and other payables (3,611,012) - - (5,404) (3,616,416)

(3,807,012) (1,030,759) - (5,404) (4,843,175)

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 13,140,997 (642,276) 141,786 (1,510)  12,638,997

Less: Net financial assets 
denominated in the 
respective entities’ 
functional currency (13,140,997) - - -

Add: Highly probable forecast 
transactions in foreign 
currencies - 14,599,573 - -

Less: Currency forwards 
excluding those that are 
off-setting in nature  
(Note 20(b)) - (14,443,555) - -

Currency exposure - (486,258) 141,786 (1,510)
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

 The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

RMB USD EUR SGD Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Company

At 31 December 2011

Financial assets

Other receivables and other 
assets 5,179,690 - - - 5,179,690

Cash and cash equivalents - 32,059 412 14,814 47,285

5,179,690 32,059 412 14,814 5,226,975

Financial liabilities

Borrowings - (1,351,416) - - (1,351,416)

Other payables (295,287) - (1,823) (9,284) (306,394)

(295,287) (1,351,416) (1,823) (9,284) (1,657,810)

Net financial assets 4,884,403 (1,319,357) (1,411) 5,530 3,569,165

Less: Net financial assets 
denominated in the 
company’s functional 
currency (4,884,403) - - -

Currency exposure - (1,319,357) (1,411) 5,530
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

RMB USD EUR SGD Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2010

Financial assets

Other receivables and other assets 1,310,982 - - - 1,310,982

Cash and cash equivalents - 48,725 21,693 3,635 74,053

1,310,982 48,725 21,693 3,635 1,385,035

Financial liabilities

Accruals, other payables and other 
liabilities (608,540) - - (5,404) (613,944)

Net financial assets 702,442 48,725 21,693 (1,769) 771,091

Less: Net financial assets 
denominated in the 
company’s functional 
currency (702,442) - - -

Currency exposure - 48,725 21,693 (1,769)

 If the USD, EUR and SGD change against the RMB by 5% (2010: 5%) respectively with all other variables 
including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from the net financial assets/(liabilities) 
position will be as follows:

2011 2010

Increase/(decrease)

Profit after tax Profit after tax

RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

USD against RMB:

- strengthened (59,264) (19,776)

- weakened 59,264 19,776

EUR against RMB:

- strengthened 7,894 5,766

- weakened (7,894) (5,766)

SGD against RMB:

- strengthened 233 (61)

- weakened (233) 61
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

2011 2010

Increase/(decrease)

Profit after tax Profit after tax

RMB’000 RMB’000

Company

USD against RMB:

- strengthened (52,093) 2,022

- weakened 52,093 (2,022)

EUR against RMB:

- strengthened (16) 900

- weakened 16 (900)

SGD against RMB:

- strengthened 229 (73)

- weakened (229) 73

 To manage its foreign currency risk arising from the shipbuilding contracts, the Group entered into foreign 
currency forward contracts based on its approved financial risk management and operating guidelines.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate risk is that the fair 
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rate. 

 The Group’s interest rate risks arise primarily from its cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, 
financial assets, held-to-maturity and borrowings with financial institutions.  The Group’s policy 
is to minimise exposure to variable interest rates of interest bearing assets, and also use floating-
to-fixed interest rate swaps for borrowings at floating rate. 

 As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group’s investments in financial assets, held-to-maturity 
were not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk as they were all fixed rated instruments.

 The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risks arises mainly from borrowings at floating 
rate denominated in USD which effective hedges have not been entered into. If the USD interest 
rates had increased by 1% (2010: nil) with all other variables including tax rate being held 
constant, the profit after tax would have been lower/higher by RMB 490,000 (2010: nil) as a 
result of higher/lower interest expense on these borrowings.
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk

 Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale

 The Group is exposed to financial product price risk mainly due to investments held by the Group 
which are classified as at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets, available-for-sale. To 
manage its price risk arising from investments, the Group ensures that the investment is within 
authorised mandate based on its approved financial risk management and operating guidelines. 

 If prices for equity securities listed in China had increased/decreased by 10% (2010: 10%) with all other 
variables including tax rate being held constant, the profit after tax would be increased/decreased by 
RMB24,841,000 (2010: RMB 689,000).

(b) Credit risk

 Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group.

(i) Cash and cash equivalent and derivative financial instruments

 For cash and cash equivalent (including restricted cash) and derivative financial instruments, the 
Group adopts the policy of dealing only with major banks of high credit standing throughout the 
world. There is no recent history of defaults in relation to cash and cash equivalent and derivative 
financial instruments.

(ii) Trade and other receivables

 None of any trade and other receivables is past due nor impaired. 

 Trade receivables related to shipbuilding activities are classified as either trade receivables or due 
from customers on construction contracts. 

 The credit risk for the shipbuilding related trade receivables as at 31 December based on the 
information provided to key management is as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

By geographical areas

Germany 62,339 17,272

Greece 80,613 50,284

Other European countries 340,536 256,831

PRC 515,695 263,157

999,183 587,544
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Trade and other receivables (continued)

 Concentration of credit risk with respect to the shipbuilding related trade receivables is limited as 
the Group adopts the policy of dealing with customers of appropriate credit history and obtaining 
guaranteed letters of credit and advances, from registered banks of the customers’ home countries. 

 There is no recent history of significant defaults in relation to the shipbuilding related trade receivables. 
The Group’s shipbuilding related trade receivables are all neither past due nor impaired.

(iii) Loans to third parties by JRRM and WRTM

 Loans to third parties by JRRM and WRTM are related to the micro-credit provided to enterprises and 
individuals. 

 Collaterals provided by the ultimate borrowers are held by JRRM and WRTM as guarantee for the 
repayment of principal and interests.

 The carrying amounts of loans to third parties (gross) presented by the type of collaterals held are as 
follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Collateralised by:

 - Unlisted shares in PRC 166,270 81,200

 - Properties and land use rights 608,420 173,610

 - Guaranteed by non-related individuals 141,170 14,760

 - Guaranteed by non-related corporations  731,988 208,200

1,647,848 477,770

 Management categorises their loan portfolio based on the credit risk of the borrowers into five 
different categories, with Category 1 representing the lowest credit risk and Category 5 representing 
the highest credit risk.  
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iii) Loans to third parties by JRRM and WRTM (continued)

 The credit risk for loan to third parties as at 31 December 2011 based on the information provided by 
key management is as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

By risk profile category

Category 1 439,000 -

Category 2 967,423 448,920

Category 3 181,000 28,850

Category 4 3,000 -

Category 5 57,425 -

1,647,848 477,770

Less: Allowance for impairment (123,923) (16,131)

1,523,925 461,639

The movement in the allowance for impairment is as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January  16,131 -

Additions 107,792 16,131

As at 31 December 123,923 16,131

 Other than the allowance made for the impairment as above, there is no further impairment noted.  
None of the loan to third parties is past due as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

(iv) Financial assets, held-to-maturity

 For financial assets held-to-maturity, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit 
quality counterparties in the PRC and internationally.  There is no recent history of defaults in relation 
to financial assets.

 The Group’s financial assets, held-to-maturity pertains to investments through intermediary financial 
institutions for specific borrowings arranged by these intermediaries.  Collaterals provided by the 
ultimate borrowers are held by the intermediaries as guarantee for the repayment of principal and 
interests. 
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Financial assets, held-to-maturity (continued)

 The carrying amounts of financial assets, held-to-maturity (gross) presented by the type of collaterals 
held under the investment agreement are as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Collateralised by:

 - Listed shares in PRC 2,260,140 2,859,561

 - Restricted shares of listed companies in PRC 580,100 1,492,255

 - Unlisted shares in PRC 1,565,000 433,906 

 - Properties and land use rights 4,978,000 2,579,330 

 - Guaranteed by non-related corporations 1,644,200 1,249,689

11,027,440 8,614,741

 All the financial assets, held-to-maturity are guaranteed by either single or a group of collaterals.  The 
Group’s strategy is to obtain a principal collateral of higher liquidity, where necessary, the Group also 
obtains additional collaterals in excess of the principal collateral. A haircut based on management’s 
judgement is adopted when assessing the value of collaterals to the carrying amounts of the financial 
assets, held-to-maturity.  The table above represented distribution of each principal collateral held 
against each financial asset, held-to-maturity. 

 The carrying amount of financial assets, held-to-maturity (gross) by the borrowers’ industry types is as 
follows: 

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Real estate 3,946,240 4,345,187

Manufacturing 2,188,200 720,211

Chemicals 1,500,000 900,000

Textile 1,100,000 750,000

Others 2,293,000 1,899,343

11,027,440 8,614,741
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Financial assets, held-to-maturity (continued)

 Movement in allowance for impairment loss of financial assets, held-to-maturity is as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January - -

Additions 554,280 -

As at 31 December 554,280 -

 Other than the allowance made for the impairment as above, there is no further impairment noted. 
None of any financial assets, held-to-maturity is past due as at 31 December 2011 and 2010. 

(v)  Financial guarantee

 The Group issued corporate guarantee to banks for borrowings of certain customers. The carrying amount 
of these bank borrowings guaranteed by the Company and JNYS is as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

The Company 984,831 507,961

JNYS 333,947 351,003 

1,318,778 858,964 

 Without taking into consideration of the collaterals held directly or indirectly by the Group, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk of the above financial guarantee is the notional amount of the bank borrowings as 
above. 
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk

 In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalent 
and marketable securities to enable them to meet their normal operating commitments. 

 The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the 
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than1 year
Between 1 and 

2 years
Between 2 and 

5 years Over 5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

As at 31 December 2011

Bank borrowings (6,296,502) (943,130) (1,693,581) -

Trade and other payables (3,276,396) - - -

(9,572,898) (943,130) (1,693,581) -

Financial guarantees (1,318,778) (53,856) (107,951) (28,509)

As at 31 December 2010

Bank borrowings (935,446) (323,948) - -

Trade and other payables (3,616,416) - - -

(4,551,862) (323,948) - -

Financial guarantees (858,964) (33,406) (65,535) (15,918)

Company

As at 31 December 2011

Bank borrowings (656,645) (522,132) (198,075) -

Accruals, other payables and 
other liabilities (306,394) - - -

(963,039) (522,132) (198,075) -

Financial guarantees (984,831) (40,327) (78,960) (16,913)

As at 31 December 2010

Accruals, other payables and 
other liabilities (613,944) - - -

Financial guarantees (507,961) (20,258) (37,361) (4,649)
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

 The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s derivative financial instruments for which 
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 
12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than 1 year
Between 1 year 

and 3 years

RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

As at 31 December 2011

Net settled interest rate swaps:

- Net cash outflows 11,223 4,228

Gross-settled currency forwards:

- Receipts 12,818,302 -

- Payments (12,843,657) -

As at 31 December 2010

Gross-settled currency forwards:

- Receipts 37,968,151 322,221

- Payments (38,293,079) (325,975)

Company

As at 31 December 2011

Net settled interest rate swaps:

- Net cash outflows 5,940 4,150

Gross-settled currency forwards:

- Receipts 12,818,302 -

- Payments (12,843,657) -

As at 31 December 2010

Gross-settled currency forwards:

- Receipts 13,517,173 322,221

- Payments (13,614,994) (325,975)
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Capital risk management

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. In order to 
maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell 
assets to reduce borrowings. Consistent with the industry practice, the Group monitors capital on the basis 
of the total liabilities to total assets ratio.

 The Group’s strategy is to maintain a stable total liabilities to total assets ratio. The ratios at 31 December 
2011 and 31 December 2010 were as follows:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total liabilities 20,022,348 16,089,577

Total assets 33,739,004 26,168,054

Liability-to-asset ratio 59.34% 61.49%

 The Group and the Company do not have any external imposed capital requirements for the financial years 
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

(e) Fair value measurements

 The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the 
following fair value measurement hierarchy:

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e as prices) or indirectly (i.e derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3). 
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35. Financial risk management (continued)

(e) Fair value measurements (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2011
Group
Assets
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss - 297,153 - 297,153
Financial assets, available-for-sale - - 15,300 15,300
Non-hedging derivatives - 140,722 - 140,722
Total assets - 437,875 15,300 453,175

Liabilities
Non-hedging derivatives - (172,037) - (172,037)

Company
Assets
Non-hedging derivatives - 16,769 - 16,769

Liabilities
Non-hedging derivatives - (37,361) - (37,361)

2010
Group
Assets
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 6,886 - - 6,886
Financial assets, available-for-sale - - 15,300 15,300
Non-hedging derivatives - 304,012 - 304,012
Total assets 6,886 304,012 15,300 326,198

Liabilities
Non-hedging derivatives - (467,693) - (467,693)

Company
Assets
Non-hedging derivatives - 100,740 - 100,740

Liabilities

Non-hedging derivatives - (101,575) - (101,575)

There is no asset transfer from Level 2 to Level 3 during the financial year ended 31 December 2011.
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36. Related party transactions

 In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the transactions took place 
between the Group and related parties, at terms agreed between the parties:

(a) Related party transactions

 The Group had the following significant transactions with the following related parties.

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Service provided by an associated corporation 

Manufacturing of marine electronics products- Jiangsu Hailan Marine 
Systems Technology Co., Ltd 20,000 -

Ship designing services - Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co., Ltd 12,778 3,455

(b) Related party balances

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group had the following balances with related parties:

The Group

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balances with ultimate shareholders of the Company

Other payables (Note 27)

Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd. 5,231 5,231

Balances with non-controlling interests

Other receivables (Note 17)

Jiangsu Changbo Group Co., Ltd. 59,584 159,836

Other payables (Note 27)

Jiangsu Changbo Group Co., Ltd. 48,838 274,051

Balances with associated corporations 

Trade payables

Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co., Ltd. 4,028 -

Other payables (Note 27)

Jiangsu Huayuan Metal Processing Co., Ltd . - 48,062

Other receivables (Note 17)

Jiangsu Xinfu Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. - 12,339

Jiangsu Huayuan Metal Processing Co., Ltd. - 721

- 13,060
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36. Related party transactions (continued)

(c) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation is analysed as follows:

The Group
2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000
Directors 

Basic salaries 98 79
Directors’ fees 443 450
Contributions to defined contribution plans 43 37
Discretionary bonuses 511 509

Senior management
Basic salaries 1,097 1,134

Contributions to defined contribution plans 245 194
Discretionary bonuses 324 324

Profit sharing scheme (see Note 8) 50,490 37,627
53,251 40,354

37. Segment information 

 Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive 
Committee (“Exco”) that are used to make strategic decisions.The Exco comprises of executive directors in the 
Board of Directors. 

 The Exco considers the business from only a business segment perspective, as geographically, management 
manages and monitors the business only from the PRC.

 The principal activities of shipbuilding segment are that of shipbuilding, ship breaking, offshore marine 
equipment construction, and ship design. The principal activities of investment segment consist of micro-
financing, investments in financial assets, held-to-maturity, and venture capital activities.

 The segment information provided to the Exco for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 
2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Shipbuilding Investments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
Revenue 14,306,094 1,399,734 15,705,828
Inter-segment revenue Note (i) 302,803 (302,803) -

14,608,897 1,096,931 15,705,828

Segment result 3,438,558 863,586 4,302,144

Total assets 17,905,759 15,489,960 33,395,719

Total liabilities (14,900,726) (2,784,482) (17,685,208)
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37. Segment information (continued)

Shipbuilding Investments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

For the financial year ended 31 December 2010

Revenue 12,922,808 635,376 13,558,184

Inter-segment revenue (i) 75,972 (75,972) -

12,998,780 559,404 13,558,184

Segment result 2,885,842 788,677 3,674,519

Total assets 15,550,275 10,134,756 25,685,031

Total liabilities (14,720,031) (810,102) (15,530,133)

(i) Inter-segment revenue is interest income directly attributable to financial assets, held-to-maturity that are 
purchased using advances payments from customers on construction contracts. 

 The Exco assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of segment results.
Administrative expenses, foreign currency exchange differences, are not allocated to segments, as all these types 
of activities are shared by each segment.Interest income on cash and cash equivalents, and finance expenses of 
certain borrowings are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the treasury of the Group, 
which manages the cash position of the Group.

(a) Reconciliation 

(i) Segment profit

 A reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to profit before tax is as follows:

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment results for reportable segments 4,302,144 3,674,519
Unallocated:

Other income 150,067 240,796
Foreign exchange gains - net 847,555 (80,688)
Administrative expenses (286,751) (205,220)
Finance expense (14,534) -

Profit before tax 4,998,481 3,629,407
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37. Segment information (continued)

(a) Reconciliation (continued)

(ii) Segment assets

 The amounts provided to the Exco with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 
with that of the financial statements.All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than 
deferred income tax assets and certain other receivables.

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment assets for reportable segments 33,395,719 25,685,031

Unallocated:

Other receivables 173,088 412,463

Deferred income tax assets 170,197 70,560

33,739,004 26,168,054

(iii) Segment liabilities

 The amounts provided to the Exco with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent 
with that of the financial statements.All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments other than 
income tax liabilities, certain borrowings and deferred income tax liabilities. 

 Segment liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment liabilities for reportable segments 17,685,208 15,530,133

Unallocated:

Income tax liabilities 566,379 172,466

Deferred income tax liabilities 419,345 386,978

Borrowings 1,351,416 -

20,022,348 16,089,577
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37. Segment information (continued)

(b) Revenue from major products

 Revenue of shipbuilding segment is derived from the construction of different container ships and multiple 
purpose cargo as well as sales of materials. Revenue of investment segment is that of the interest income 
from loans to third parties and financial assets, held-to-maturity. Breakdown of the revenue by major 
product type is as follows: 

Year ended 31 December
2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000
Construction of container ships 2,511,013 4,417,960
Construction of multiple purpose cargo 11,084,709 8,222,604
Construction of train ferry 23,172 30,403
Interest income from advances received on construction contracts 302,803 75,972
Sales of goods 687,200 251,841

Interest income from loans to third parties 180,053 19,253
Interest income from financial assets, held-to-maturity 916,878 540,151

15,705,828 13,558,184

(c) Geographical information

 The Group’s revenue, based on the customers’ locations, are as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue from third parties:
PRC and Taiwan 6,301,869 2,820,067
Italy 3,032,410 3,378,096
Germany 2,845,397 4,094,757
Greece 961,159 363,593
Other European countries 1,817,693 1,896,057
Other Asian countries 747,300 -
Canada - 1,005,614

15,705,828 13,558,184

 Revenues of approximately RMB 3,348,072,000 (2010: RMB 3,710,679,000) are derived from three (2010: 
three) major customers.These revenues are attributable to the shipbuilding segment. 

 The Group’s non-current assets amounting to RMB 9,093,832,000 (2010: RMB 6,906,792,000) are mainly 
located in the PRC. 

Notes To The Financial Statements
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38. Business combinations

 Acquisition of additional 40% interests in JXSC

 On 1 March 2011, the Group increased its equity interest in Jiangsu Yangzi Xinfu Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JXSC”) 
from 20% to 60%, resulted in JXSC becoming a subsidiary of the Group. JXSC was previously recognised as the 
Group’s associated corporation. The principal activity of JXSC is that of shipbuilding in Taizhou, Jiangsu province, 
PRC. 

(a) Purchase consideration

RMB’000

Cash paid 378,883

Consideration transferred for the business 378,883

(b) Effect on cash flows of the Group

RMB’000

Cash paid (as above) 378,883

Less: cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (30,530)

Cash outflow on acquisition 348,353

(c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

At fair value

RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 30,530

Property, plant and equipment (Note 25) 784,201

Lease prepayment (Note 21) 209,818

Financial assets, held-to-maturity 80,000

Trade and other receivables 410,992

Total assets 1,515,541

Trade and other payables (261,340)

Borrowings (520,000)

Total liabilities (781,340)

Total identifiable net assets 734,201

Less: Non-controlling interests’ share of total identifiable net assets (Note (e) below) (293,680)

Fair value of the 20% equity interests held by the Group immediate before the 
acquisition date (71,066)

Add: Cash paid in excess of the fair value of identifiable net assets 9,428

Consideration transferred for the business 378,883

Notes To The Financial Statements
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38. Business combinations (continued)

 Acquisition of additional 40% interests in JXSC (continued)

(d) Gain on equity interests 

 The fair value of the 20% equity interests in JXSC held by the Group on the acquisition date amounted to 
RMB 71,066,000. Total revaluation gains resulting from the revaluation at fair value immediately before the 
acquisition amounted to RMB 9,500,000. This profit is recognised in the consolidated income statement 
income as “Other gains - net”.

(e) Non-controlling interests

 The Group has elected to recognise the 40% non-controlling interest in JXSC as its proportionate share of 
identifiable net assets of JXSC of RMB 293,680,000. 

(f) Revenue and profit contribution

 Since JXSC is still under pre-operating status, no revenue and profit is contributed by the acquired entity. 

Acquisition of 54.47% interests in Jiangsu Runzhou Heavy Industry Co., Ltd

 On 10 April 2011, the Group acquired 54.47% of equity interest of Jiangsu Runzhou Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. 
(“JRHI”).The principal activities of JRHI are that of steel structure and paint surface preparation as well as coating 
related business. JRHI holds 51% interests in Jiangsu New Yangzi Gas Co., Ltd., which supplies gas for commercial 
use.

(a) Purchase consideration

RMB’000

Cash paid 42,560

Consideration transferred for the business 42,560

(b) Effect on cash flows of the Group

Cash paid (as above) 42,560

Less: cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (155,131)

Cash inflow on acquisition (112,571)

Notes To The Financial Statements
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38. Business combinations (continued)

 Acquisition of 54.47% interests in Jiangsu Runzhou Heavy Industry Co., Ltd (continued)

(c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

At fair value

RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 155,131

Property, plant and equipment (Note 25) 64,068

Inventories 2,815

Trade and other receivables 23,538

Total assets 245,552

Trade and other payables (130,644)

Borrowings (5,000)

Total liabilities (135,644)

Total identifiable net assets 109,908

Less: Non-controlling interests’ share of total identifiable net assets  
(Note (d) below) (66,350)

Fair value over cash consideration paid (998)

Consideration transferred for the business 42,560

(d) Non-controlling interests

 The Group has chosen to recognise the 45.53% non-controlling interest in JRHI as its proportionate share 
of identifiable net assets of JRHI of RMB 66,350,000. 

(e) Revenue and profit contribution

 The acquired business contributed revenue of RMB 43,131,000 and net profit of RMB 946,000 to the Group 
for the period from 10 April 2011 to 31 December 2011.

 Had JRHI been consolidated from 1 January 2011, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit after tax 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 would have been increased by RMB 71,877,000 and RMB 1,613,000 
respectively.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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38. Business combinations (continued)

 Acquisition of 60% interests in CS Marine Technology Pte. Ltd. (“CSMT”)

 On 29 July 2011, the Group acquired 60% of equity interest of CSMT. The principal activity of CSMT is that of 
designing ship and offshore marine equipment.

(a) Purchase consideration

RMB’000

Cash paid 5,000

Consideration transferred for the business 5,000

(b) Effect on cash flows of the Group

Cash paid (as above) 5,000

Less: cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (14,729)

Cash inflow on acquisition (9,729)

(c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

At fair value
RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 14,729
Lease prepayment (Note 21) 1,980
Inventories 207
Trade and other receivables 18,256
Total assets 35,172

Trade and other payables (13,416)
Total liabilities (13,416)

Total identifiable net assets 21,756
Less: Non-controlling interests’ share of total identifiable net assets (Note (d) below) (8,703)

Fair value over cash consideration paid (8,053)
Consideration transferred for the business 5,000

(d) Non-controlling interests 

 The Group has elected to recognise the 40% non-controlling interest in CSMT as its proportionate share of 
identifiable net assets of CSMT of RMB 8,703,000.

(e) Revenue and profit contribution

 The acquired business contributed revenue of RMB 15,920,000 and net profit of RMB 3,895,000 to the 
Group for the period from 29 July 2011 to 31 December 2011.

 Had CSMT been consolidated from 1 January 2011, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit after tax 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 would have been increased by RMB 38,208,000 and RMB 9,348,000 
respectively.
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38. Business combinations (continued)

Acquisition of 31.5% interests in Wuxi Runyuan Technology Micro-finance Co., Ltd. (“WRTM”)

 On 24 August 2011, the Group acquired 31.5% of equity interest of WRTM. WRTM becomes a subsidiary of the 
Group as the Group has control over its operating and financial policies. The principal activity of WRTM is to 
provide micro-credit to small and medium technology enterprises.

(a) Purchase consideration

RMB’000

Cash paid 94,500

Consideration transferred for the business 94,500

(b) Effect on cash flows of the Group

Cash paid (as above) 94,500

Less: cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (300,000)

Cash inflow on acquisition (205,500)

(c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

At fair value

RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 300,000

Total assets 300,000

Total identifiable net assets 300,000

Less: Non-controlling interests’ share of total identifiable net assets (Note (d) below) (205,500)

Consideration transferred for the business 94,500

(d) Non-controlling interests 

 The Group has chosen to recognise the 68.5% non-controlling interest in WRTM as its proportionate share 
of identifiable net assets of WRTM of RMB 205,500,000.

(e) Revenue and profit contribution

 The acquired business contributed revenue of RMB 16,017,000 and net profit of RMB 3,516,000 to the 
Group for the period from 24 August 2011 to 31 December 2011.

 Had WRTM been consolidated from 1 January 2011, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit for 
the year ended 31 December 2011 would have been increased by RMB 16,017,000 and RMB 3,516,000 
respectively.
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38. Business combinations (continued)

 Acquisition of 100% interests in Jiangsu Huayuan Metal Processing Co., Ltd (“JHMPC”)

 On 5 December 2011, the Group increased its equity interest of JHMPC from 20% to 100%. The principal activity 
of JHMPC is that of scrap steel processing whereas its wholly owned subsidiary Jingjiang City Dunfeng Ship 
Dismantle Co., Ltd is engaged in environmentally-friendly ship breaking business.

(a) Purchase consideration

RMB’000

Cash paid 240,000

Consideration transferred for the business 240,000

(b) Effect on cash flows of the Group

Cash paid (as above) 240,000

Less: cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (16,833)

Cash outflow on acquisition 223,167

(c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

At fair value

RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 16,833

Property, plant and equipment (Note 25) 147,953

Lease prepayment (Note 21) 63,113

Inventories 337,786

Trade and other receivables 237,891

Total assets 803,576

Trade and other payables (204,977)

Borrowings (296,218)

Total liabilities (501,195)

Total identifiable net assets 302,381
Less: Fair value of 20% equity interests held by the Group immediately before the 

acquisition (60,000)

Fair value over cash consideration paid (2,381)

Consideration transferred for the business 240,000
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38. Business combinations (continued)

 Acquisition of 100% interests in Jiangsu Huayuan Metal Processing Co., Ltd (“JHMPC”) (continued)

(d) Revenue and profit contribution

 The acquired business contributed negligible revenue and net profit to the Group for the period from 5 
December 2011 to 31 December 2011.

 Had JHMPC been consolidated from 1 January 2011, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit after tax 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 would have been RMB 600,937,000 and RMB 21,000 respectively.

Summary of effect on cash flows of the Group from acquisitions of subsidiaries

Cash paid

Cash and cash 
equivalent 

in subsidiary 
acquired

Cash outflow 
(inflow) on 
acquisition

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Acquired subsidiaries during 2011: 

JXSC 378,883 (30,530) 348,353

JRHI 42,560 (155,131) (112,571)

CSMT 5,000 (14,729) (9,729)

WRTM 94,500 (300,000) (205,500)

JHMPC 240,000 (16,833) 223,167

243,720

Notes To The Financial Statements
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39. Comparative financial information 

 For the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Company has reclassified the items with expense by nature, 
interest income from financial assets, held-to-maturity, and interest income from loans to third parties to be the 
same as the presentation for the financial year ended 31 December 2011as follows:

The Group

2010

Before 
reclassification Reclassification

After 
reclassification

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue:

Interest income from financial assets, held-to-
maturity - 540,151 540,151

Interest income from loans to third parties - 19,253 19,253

Other income: 

Interest income from financial assets,  
held-to-maturity 540,151 (540,151) -

Interest income from loans to third parties 19,253 (19,253) -

Expense by nature:

Employee compensation 688,826 (533,188) 155,638

Outsourcing and processing fee 619,585 533,188 1,152,773

 The reclassification is to reflect the nature of those expenses and income as well as the policy adopted for the 
investment transactions.

40. New accounting standards and FRS interpretations

 Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been 
published, and are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 or later 
periods and which the Group has not early adopted:

• Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets  
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011)

• Amendments to FRS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets  
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012)

 The management anticipates that the adoption of the above amendments to FRSs in the future periods will not 
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of their initial 
adoption.

41. Authorisation of financial statements

 These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of 
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd passed on 23 March 2012.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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42. Listing of significant companies in the Group

Name of companies Principal activities

Country of 
business/ 
incorporation

Effective 
Equity 

holding

2011 2010

% %

Subsidiaries

Jiangsu Yangzijiang 
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. 
(“JYS”) (1) and (4)

Building, repair, dismantling of vessels 
with tonnage of 55,000 tons or less; PRC 100 100

Production and processing of large scale 
steel structures, belt transportation 
machinery; 

Production of oxygen and nitrogen; 

Sale and provision of technical consultancy 
services and after sales service with 
regards to products produced by the 
company

Jiangsu New Yangzi 
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. 
(“JNYS”) (1) and (4)

Ship manufacturing, maintenance and 
breaking; PRC 100 100

Large-scale steel structure products 
processing and manufacturing; 

Sale of self-manufactured products and 
after-sale service; 

Import and export business for various 
merchandise and technologies

Jiangsu Yangzi Xinfu 
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd 
(“JXSC”) (5) 

Shipbuilding, ship repairing, production 
and processing of large scale steel 
structures PRC 60 20

SEAVI Advent Asia 
Investments (III) Ltd. 
(“SEAVI”) (2) Investment holding

British Virgin 
Islands 100 100

Yitian Investments Pte Ltd. 
(“Yitian”) (5) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

Baoling Investments Pte 
Ltd. (“Baoling”) (5) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

Pleasant Way Analyse 
Development Ltd. 
(“PWAD”) (2) Investment holding

British Virgin 
Islands 100 100

Jiangsu Runzhou Ship 
Accessories Co., Ltd. 
(“JRS”) (5) Manufacturing of ship accessories PRC 100 100

Jiangyin Yangchuan 
Labour Supply Co., 
Ltd. (“JYLS”) (5)

Labour subcontractor to supply labour to 
the ship builder PRC 100 100

Notes To The Financial Statements
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42. Listing of significant companies in the Group (continued)

Name of companies Principal activities

Country of 
business/ 
incorporation

Effective  
Equity 

holding

2011 2010

% %

Subsidiaries (continued)

Jiangsu Tianyuan Marine 
Import and Export 
Co., Ltd. (“JTY”) (5)

Facilitating the sale and export of ships to 
the ship builder PRC 100 100

Jiangsu Jingjiang Yangzi 
Labour Supply Co., 
Ltd. (“JJYLS”) (5)

Labour subcontractor to supply labour to 
the ship builder PRC 100 100

Jiangsu Tongzhou Marine 
Equipment Co., Ltd. 
(“JTME”) (5)

Providing facility and production area 
for structural building in blocks, block 
outfitting and modularisation of outfitting 
into units PRC 100 100

Jiangsu Yangchuan 
Equipment and 
Materials Co., Ltd. 
(“JYEM”) (5) Supply of marine equipment and materials PRC 100 100

Jiangsu Yangzi Changbo 
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd 
(“JCSC”) (1) and (4)

Ship manufacturing, maintenance and 
breaking; PRC 51 51

Large-scale steel structure products 
processing and manufacturing; 

Sale of self-manufactured products and 
after-sale service; 

Import and export business for various 
merchandise and technologies

Jiangsu Bawei Port 
Development Co., 
Ltd (5) Property management PRC 46.75 46.75

Jingjiang Runyuan Rural 
Micro-finance Co., 
Ltd (“JRRM”) (1) and (5)

Provide microcredit to enterprise and 
individual PRC 100 51

Jiangsu Yangchen 
Equipment and 
Materials Co.,Ltd 
(“JYEMCO”) (5) Supply of marine equipment and materials PRC 52 52

Jiangsu Zhongzhou 
Marine Equipment 
Co., Ltd (“JZME”) (5)

Manufacture base to construct big vessel 
components and accessories PRC 100 100

Jiangsu Zhongzhou 
Vessel Component 
Manufacturing Co., 
Ltd (“JZCM”) (5)

Manufacture base to construct big vessel 
components and accessories PRC 100 100

Notes To The Financial Statements
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42. Listing of significant companies in the Group (continued)

Name of companies Principal activities

Country of 
business/ 
incorporation

Effective  
Equity 

holding

2011 2010

% %

Subsidiaries (continued)

Jiangsu Xin Yangzi 
Marine Equipment 
Manufacturing Co., 
Ltd (“JXMECO”) (5)

Marine equipment manufacturing, 
designing and repair; PRC 100 100

Ship accessories manufacturing and steel 
processing

Jiangsu Tianchen Marine 
Import and Export 
Co., Ltd (“JTC”) (5)

Facilitating the sale and export of ships to 
the ship builder PRC 100 -

Jiangsu Runzhou Heavy 
Industry Co., Ltd 
(“JRHI”) (5)

Steel structure, paint surface preparation 
of steel and coating related business PRC 54.47 -

Jiangsu New Yangzi Gas 
Co., Ltd (“JNYG”) (5) Supply of gas for shipbuilding activities PRC 27.8 -

Jiangsu Xinfu Gas Co., Ltd 
(“JXFG”) (5) Supply of gas for shipbuilding activities PRC 27.8 -

Wuxi Runyuan Technology 
Micro-finance Co., 
Ltd (“WRTM”) (1), (5) and (6)

Provide microcredit to enterprise and 
individual PRC 31.5 -

CS Marine Technology Pte 
Ltd (“CSMT”) (5) Provide turnkey ship-design services Singapore 60 -

Barber-CS Marine 
Technology 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd 
(“BCSMT”) (5) Provide turnkey ship-design services PRC 60 -

Jiangsu Huayuan Metal 
Processing Co., Ltd 
(“JHMPC”) (5) Scrap steel processing PRC 100 20

Jingjiang City Dunfeng 
Ship Dismantle Co., 
Ltd (“JDSD”) (5) Ship breaking PRC 100 20

Jointly-controlled 
corporation

PPL Holdings Pte Ltd (1) Investment holding Singapore 45 45
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42. Listing of significant companies in the Group (continued)

Name of companies Principal activities

Country of 
business/ 
incorporation

Effective  
Equity 

holding

2011 2010

% %

Associated corporations

Shanghai Henggao Ships 
designing Co., Ltd. 
(“SHSD”) (3) and (5)

Engaging in the design and conceptual 
development for a wide range of 
merchant ships PRC 60 60

Everbright Venture Capital 
Jiangyin Co., Ltd. 
(“EVCJ”) (3) and (5) 

Engaging in the venture capital 
investment providing seed capital PRC 20 20

Jiangsu Huagong Venture 
Capital Co., Ltd 
(“JHVC”) (3) and (5) 

Engaging in the venture capital 
investment providing seed capital PRC 20 20

Jiangsu Renhe New  
Energy Industrial 
Investment Centre 
(“JNRH”) (3) and (5)

Engaging in the venture capital 
investment providing seed capital PRC 20 -

Jiangsu Hailan Marine 
Systems Technology 
Co., Ltd  
(“JHMST”) (3) and (5)

Development, production and sale of 
marine electronics supporting products PRC 20 -

(1) Audited for purposes of preparation of consolidated financial statements.

(2) Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.

(3) Not consolidated as the entity is not controlled by the Group but deemed to be an associated company as the Group has significant 
influence over the entity.

(4) JYS, JNYS and JCSC are audited by Jiangyin Da Qiao CPAs Limited Company, Jiangsu Tian Cheng CPAs Limited Company and Wuxi 
Wen De Zhi Xin Lian He CPAs Limited Company respectively for local statutory purpose. 

(5) The Company is audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for local statutory purpose. All other subsidiaries and associated corporations 
are audited by other accounting firms for local statutory purpose.

(6) The Group has the control over the subsidiary’s operating and financial activities.
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Issued and fully paid-up shares capital: S$1,240,693,280.38 (RMB 6,206,820,000)
Number of shares (excluding treasury share): 3,831,838,000
Class of shares: Ordinary Shares
Voting per share: One vote per share
Treasury Share: 5,239,000

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 999 11 0.04 1,771 0.00

1,000 - 10,000 20,083 70.92 108,458,968 2.83

10,001 - 1,000,000 8,190 28.92 319,339,595 8.33

1,000,001 AND   ABOVE 32 0.11 3,404,037,666 88.84

TOTAL : 28,316 100.00 3,831,838,000 100.00
 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1. NEWYARD WORLDWIDE HOLDINGS LTD  1,000,000,000 26.10

2. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  464,775,355 12.13

3. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 449,578,808 11.73

4. LIDO POINT INVESTMENTS LTD 394,134,000 10.29

5. HONGKONG HENGYUAN INVESTMENT LTD 326,197,375 8.51

6. ALMOND BEACH RESOURCES CORPORATION 184,086,000 4.80

7. DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD          173,736,756 4.53

8. DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD         144,703,503 3.78

9. MEDITERRANEAN SUCCESS GROUP INC 54,876,000 1.43

10. RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD    49,001,930 1.28

11. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 37,724,687 0.98

12. BNP PARIBAS SECURITIES SERVICES SINGAPORE PTE LTD   12,736,014 0.33

13. DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD       12,037,798 0.31

14. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD   11,615,000 0.30

15. BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE LTD   11,272,400 0.29

16. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD    8,919,000 0.23

17. UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD          8,685,000 0.23

18. OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD       5,664,500 0.15

19. DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (S) PTE LTD  5,531,000 0.14

20. MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE  LTD    5,283,556 0.14

 TOTAL : 3,360,558,682 87.70

Statistic of Shareholdings
As at 8 March 2012
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Statistic of Shareholdings
As at 8 March 2012

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Substantial Shareholders
Number of 

Shares %
Number of 

Shares % Total %

Ren Yuanlin 2,200,000 0.0574 1,000,000,0001 26.0971 26.1545

Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd 1,000,000,000 26.0971 - - 26.0971

Xiang Jianjun - - 394,134,0002 10.2858 10.2858

Lido Point Investments Ltd 394,134,000 10.2858 - - 10.2858

Wang Dong - - 394,134,0003 10.2858 10.2858

HongKong Hengyuan Investment Limited 326,197,375 8.5128 - - 8.5128

Chang Liang - - 326,197,3754 8.5128 8.5128

Notes:

1 Ren Yuanlin is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd, by virtue of Section 7 of the 
Companies Act.

2 Xiang Jianjun is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido Point Investments Ltd, by virtue of Section 7 of the 
Companies Act.

3 Wang Dong is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido Point Investments Ltd, by virtue of Section 7 of the 
Companies Act.

4 Chang Liang is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in HongKong Hengyuan Investment Limited, by virtue of Section 
7 of the Companies Act.

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN PUBLIC HANDS

Approximately 50.21% of the shareholding of the Company is held in the hands of the public as at 8 March 2012 and 
Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Meeting Rooms 301-302, Level 
3, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 
on Friday, 27 April 2012 at 3:30 p.m. to transact the following business:-

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 
and the Directors’ Reports and the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a tax exempt (one-tier) final dividend of S$0.055 per ordinary share in respect of the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011. (Resolution 2)

3. To approve the proposed Directors’ fees of S$90,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.  
(2010: S$91,000)  (Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 94 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association:

(i) Mr Ren Yuanlin (Resolution 4) 

(ii) Mr Teo Yi-dar (Zhang Yida) (Resolution 5)

5. To note that Mr Wang Dong and Mr Xiang Jianjun, Directors of the Company, will be retiring pursuant to Article 
94 of the Company’s Articles of Association and will not be seeking for re-election.

6. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration. (Resolution 6)

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary resolutions, with or without modifications:

7. AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES

 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

(a) (i) issue ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or  
 otherwise; and/or

 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would  
 require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as  
 adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares,

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors 
may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit; and

(b) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors while such authority was in 
force (notwithstanding that such issue of Shares pursuant to the Instruments may occur after the expiration 
of the authority contained in this resolution).

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of the Shares to be issued pursuant to such authority (including the Shares to 
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority), does not exceed 
50% of the total number of issued Shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below), 
and provided further that where shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) are not given the 
opportunity to participate in the same on a pro-rata basis (“non pro-rata basis”), then the Shares to 
be issued under such circumstances (including the Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments 
made or granted pursuant to such authority) shall not exceed 20% of the total number of issued 
Shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of 
determining the aggregate number of the Shares that may be issued under paragraph (1) above, the 
total number of issued Shares shall be based on the issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares) at the time such authority was conferred, after adjusting for:

(a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) new Shares arising from the exercising share options or the vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time such authority was conferred; and

(c) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of the Shares;

 and, in relation to an Instrument, the number of Shares shall be taken to be that number as would 
have been issued had the rights therein been fully exercised or effected on the date of the making or 
granting of the Instrument;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 
requirements imposed by the SGX-ST from time to time and the provisions of the Listing Manual of 
the SGX-ST for the time being in force (in each case, unless such compliance has been waived by the 
SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements under the Companies Act and otherwise, and the Articles 
of Association of the Company for the time being; and

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting) the authority so conferred shall 
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date 
by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever 
is earlier.” (Resolution 7)

8. RENEWAL OF SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

“That:

(a) the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise 
acquire issued Ordinary Shares not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at 
such price or prices as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the 
Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

(i) market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST; and/or

(ii) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with any equal access 
scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors of the Company as they consider fit, 
which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act;

 and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time 
being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share 
Purchase Mandate”),
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(b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of 
the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the Directors of the Company 
at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this 
Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held; or

(ii) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held; or

(iii) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of the Shares pursuant to Share Purchase Mandate 
are carried out to the full extent mandated.

(c) in this Resolution:

 “Maximum Limit” means that number of issued Ordinary Shares representing 10% of the total number of 
the issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of the passing of this Resolution (excluding any Ordinary Shares 
which are held as treasury shares as at that date); 

 “Maximum Price”, in relation to an Ordinary Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price 
(excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) which 
shall not exceed: -

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price (as defined hereinafter); and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 120% of Average Closing Price (as defi ned hereinafter), 
pursuant to an equal access scheme;

  “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share for the five consecutive 
Market Days on which the Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the date of Market 
Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-
Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the Listing Rules for any corporate action 
which occurs after the relevant five Market Days;

 “date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention to 
make an offer for an Off-Market Purchase, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more than 
the Maximum Price for an Off-Market Purchase calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the 
relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase;

(d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all 
such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may 
consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this 
Resolution.” (Resolution 8)

9. To transact any other business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Pan Mi Keay
Company Secretary
30 March 2012
Singapore

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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STATEMENT PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 56 OF THE COMPANY’S ARTICLE OF ASSOCIATION:-

The effects of the resolutions under the heading “Ordinary Business” and “Special Business” in this Notice of Annual 
General Meeting are:

(a) Mr Teo Yi-dar (Zhang Yida) will remain as the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration 
Committee as well as the Member of the Audit Committee upon re-election as a Director of the Company and 
will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual.

(b) The proposed ordinary resolution 7 if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of 
the above meeting to issue shares in the Company up to an amount not exceeding in total 50% of the total 
number of issued shares in the capital of the Company with a sub-limit of 20% other than on a pro-rata basis 
to shareholders for the time being for such purposes as they consider would be in the interest of the Company. 
The authority will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

(c) The proposed ordinary resolution 8 if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of the 
above meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting to purchase or acquire up to 10% of the issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of the passing of this Resolution. Details of the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate are set out in the Appendix I to the Notice of the above meeting.

(i) As at the date of this Notice, the Company has made the following purchases of shares by way of market 
acquisition for cancellation: -

• the total number of Shares purchased was 5,000,000. 

• the highest and lowest price paid for such Shares purchases were S$0.89 and S$0.77 respectively; and

• the total consideration paid by the Company for such Share purchases was S$4,115,293.03.

(ii) The amount of financing required for the Company to further purchase or acquire its shares, and the impact 
on the Company’s financial position, cannot be ascertained as at the date of this Notice as this will depend 
on the number of the shares purchased or acquired and the price at which such shares were purchased or 
acquired.

(iii) The financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of shares by the Company pursuant to the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate on the Group’s audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2011 are set out in Appendix I to the Notice of the above meeting and are for illustration only.

Notes: 

(1) A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his 
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(2) If a proxy is to be appointed, the form must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 80 Robinson 
Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898 not less than 48 hours before the meeting.

(3) The form of proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.

(4) In the case of joint shareholders, all holders must sign the form of proxy.
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THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

1. Introduction

1.1  Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”) proposes to seek the approval of Shareholders of 
the Company (“Shareholders”) at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Meeting Rooms 
301-302, Level 3, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec 
City, Singapore 039593 on Friday, 27 April 2012 at 3.30 p.m. (“2012 AGM”) for the proposed renewal of share 
purchase mandate to authorise the directors from time to time to purchase shares in the capital of the Company 
(whether by market purchases and/or off-market purchases on an equal access system) up to 10% of the issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date on which this Resolution is passed, at the price of up to but 
not exceeding the Maximum Price (as defined below), subject to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of 
the Company and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) as set out in 
the SGX-ST Listing Manual (“Listing Rules”) (the “Share Purchase Mandate”).

1.2  The Shareholders of the Company had at the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 25 April 2008, 
approved the Share Purchase Mandate (“2008 Mandate”) for the Directors to exercise all the powers of the 
Company to purchase or acquire up to 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company on the terms of 
that mandate. The Share Purchase Mandate was approved for renewal at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) 
held as follows :

• Renewed the 2008 Mandate at the AGM held on 28 April 2009 (“2009 Mandate”); 

• Renewed the 2009 Mandate at the AGM held on 27 April 2010 (“2010 Mandate”); and

• Renewed the 2010 Mandate at the AGM held on 28 April 2011 (“2011 Mandate”). 

1.3  The 2011 Mandate will expire on the date of the forthcoming 2012 AGM. If the proposed resolution for the 
renewal of Share Purchase Mandate is approved at the 2012 AGM, the mandate shall, unless revoked or varied 
by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

1.4 The purpose of this Appendix is to provide information relating to and explain the rationale for the proposed 
renewal of Share Purchase Mandate.

2.  Rationale for the Share Purchase Mandate 

2.1 The renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate authorising the Company to purchase or acquire its ordinary shares 
in the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (“Shares”) would give the Company the flexibility to 
undertake share purchases or acquisitions up to the 10% limit described in paragraph 2.3.1 below at any time, 
during the period when the Share Purchase Mandate is in force.

2.2 The rationale for the Company to undertake the purchase or acquisition of its issued Shares, as previously stated 
in its circular to Shareholders dated 9 April 2008, is as follows:

(a) In managing the business of the Group, the management will strive to increase Shareholders’ value by 
improving, inter alia, the Return on Equity (“ROE”) of the Company. In addition to growth and expansion 
of the business, share purchases may be considered as one of the ways through which the ROE of the 
Company may be enhanced. 
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 (b) In line with international practice, the Share Purchase Mandate will provide the Company with greater 
flexibility in managing its capital and maximising returns to its Shareholders. To the extent that the Company 
has capital and surplus funds, which are in excess of its financial needs, taking into account its growth and 
expansion plans, the Share Purchase Mandate will facilitate the return of excess cash and surplus funds to 
Shareholders in an expedient, effective and cost-efficient manner. 

(c) Share purchase programmes help to buffer short-term share price volatility.

(d) The Share Purchase Mandate will provide the Company the flexibility to undertake share repurchases at 
any time, subject to market conditions, during the period when the Share Purchase Mandate is in force.

 While the Share Purchase Mandate would authorise a purchase or acquisition of Shares up to the said 10% limit 
during the duration referred to in paragraph 2.3.2 below, Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions 
of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may not be carried out to the full 10% limit as authorised 
and the purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate would be made only as 
and when the Directors consider it to be in the best interests of the Company and in circumstances which they 
believe will not result in any material adverse effect to the financial position of the Company or the Group, or 
result in the Company being delisted from the SGX-ST. The Directors will use their best efforts to ensure that after 
a purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, the number of Shares remaining 
in the hands of the public will not fall to such a level as to cause market illiquidity or adversely affect the orderly 
trading and listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST.

2.3  Authority and Limits on the Share Purchase Mandate

 The authority and limitations placed on share purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company under the 
proposed Share Purchase Mandate, are similar in terms to those previously approved by Shareholders, and are 
summarised below:

2.3.1 Maximum Number of Shares

 Only Shares which are issued and fully paid-up may be purchased or acquired by the Company. The total 
number of Shares which may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase 
Mandate is limited to that number of Shares representing not more than 10% of the total number of issued 
Shares of the Company ascertained as at the date of the last AGM or at the date of the forthcoming 2012 
AGM at which the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is approved, whichever is higher, unless the share 
capital of the Company has been reduced in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the total number of issued Shares shall be 
taken to be the total number of issued Shares as altered. Any Shares which are held as treasury shares will 
be disregarded for purposes of computing the 10% limit. As at 5 March 2012, being the Latest Practicable 
Date, the Company is holding 5,239,000 Shares in treasury. 

 For illustrative purposes only, on the basis of 3,831,838,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable 
Date (excluding 5,239,000 Shares held in treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date), and assuming:

(a) no further Shares are issued on or prior to the 2012 AGM; and 

(b) no further Shares are purchased or acquired by the Company, and no Shares purchased or acquired 
by the Company are held as treasury shares, not more than 383,183,800 Shares [representing 10% of 
the total number of Shares (excluding the Shares held in treasury) as at that date] may be purchased 
by the Company pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate during the duration referred to 
in paragraph 2.3.2 below.
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2.3.2 Duration of Authority

 Purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate may be made, at 
any time and from time to time, on and from the date of the forthcoming 2012 AGM, at which the renewal 
of Share Purchase Mandate is approved, up to:

(a) the date on which the next AGM of the Company is held or required by law to be held; or

(b) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase 
Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

(c) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked or varied by the 
Shareholders in a general meeting, 

 whichever is the earliest.

 The authority conferred on the Directors by the Share Purchase Mandate to purchase Shares may be 
renewed at the next AGM (after the forthcoming 2012 AGM) or an EGM to be convened immediately 
after the conclusion or adjournment of the next AGM. When seeking the approval of the Shareholders 
for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, the Company is required to disclose details pertaining to 
purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate made during the 
previous 12 months, including the total number of Shares purchased, the purchase price per Share or the 
highest and lowest prices paid for such purchases of Shares, where relevant, and the total consideration 
paid for such purchases.

2.3.3 Manner of Purchases or Acquisitions of Shares

 Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made by way of:

(a) market purchase(s) (“Market Purchase”), transacted on the SGX-ST through the ready market, 
through one or more duly licensed stock brokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; and/or

(b) off-market purchase(s) (“Off-Market Purchase”) effected pursuant to an equal access scheme in 
accordance with Section 76C of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (“Companies Act”).

 The Directors may impose such terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the Share Purchase 
Mandate, the Listing Rules and the Companies Act, as they consider fit in the interests of the Company 
in connection with or in relation to any equal access scheme or schemes. An Off-Market Purchase must, 
however, satisfy all the following conditions:

(i) offers for the purchase or acquisition of Shares shall be made to every person who holds Shares to 
purchase or acquire the same percentage of their Shares;

(ii) all of the abovementioned persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made; 
and

(iii) the terms of all the offers shall be the same, except that there shall be disregarded (1) differences in 
consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to Shares with different accrued dividend 
entitlements; (2) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers relate to Shares with 
different amounts remaining unpaid (if applicable); and (3) differences in the offers introduced solely 
to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of Shares.
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 Pursuant to the Listing Rules, if the Company wishes to make an Off-Market Purchase in accordance with 
an equal access scheme, it will issue an offer document to all Shareholders containing at least the following 
information:

(1) the terms and conditions of the offer;

(2)  the period and procedures for acceptances;

(3)  the reasons for the proposed purchase or acquisition of Shares;

(4)  the consequences, if any, of the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company that will arise 
under the Take-over Code or other applicable take-over rules;

(5)  whether the purchases or acquisitions of Shares, if made, would have any effect on the listing of the 
Shares on the SGX-ST; and

(6)  details of any purchases or acquisitions of Shares made by the Company in the previous 12 months 
(whether Market Purchases or Off-Market Purchases), giving the total number of Shares purchased, 
the purchase price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for the purchases of Shares, where 
relevant, and the total consideration paid for the purchases.

2.3.4 Maximum Purchase Price

 The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax 
and other related expenses) to be paid for a Share will be determined by the Directors or a committee 
of Directors that may be constituted for the purposes of effecting purchases or acquisitions of Shares by 
the Company under the Share Purchase Mandate.However, the purchase price to be paid for the Shares 
pursuant to the purchases or acquisitions of the Shares must not exceed:

(a) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price; and

(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Average 
Closing Price, 

(the “Maximum Price”) in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase or acquisition.

For the above purposes:

 “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share for the five consecutive 
Market Days on which the Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the date of the 
Market Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to 
the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the Listing Rules for any corporate 
action which occurs after the relevant five (5) Market Days.

 “date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention to 
make an offer for an Off-Market Purchase, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more than 
the Maximum Price for an Off-Market Purchase calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the 
relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.
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2.4 Status of Purchased Shares

 Shares purchased or acquired by the Company are deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition 
(and all rights and privileges attached to the Share will expire on such cancellation) unless such Share is held 
by the Company as a treasury share. Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the 
number of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company and which are not held as treasury shares. At the 
time of each purchase of Shares by the Company, the Directors will decide whether the Shares purchased will 
be cancelled or kept as treasury shares, or partly cancelled and partly kept as treasury shares, depending on the 
needs of the Company at that time.

2.5 Treasury Shares

 Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury 
shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act are summarised below:

2.5.1 Maximum Holdings

 The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares.

2.5.2 Voting and Other Rights

 The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares.In particular, the Company cannot 
exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of the Companies Act, the Company 
shall be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting rights.

 In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company’s assets may be made, to 
the Company in respect of treasury shares.However, the allotment of shares as fully paid bonus shares in 
respect of treasury shares is allowed. Also, a subdivision or consolidation of any treasury share into treasury 
shares of a smaller amount is allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision 
or consolidation is the same as before.

2.5.3 Disposal and Cancellation

Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time:

(a) sell the treasury shares for cash;

(b) transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to an employees’ share scheme;

(c) transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another 
company or assets of a person;

(d) cancel the treasury shares; or

(e) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed by the 
Minister for Finance.

 Under the Listing Manual, immediate announcement must be made of any sale, transfer, cancellation and/
or use of treasury shares (in each case, the “usage”).Such announcement must include details such as the 
date of the usage, the purpose of the usage, the number of treasury shares comprised in the usage, the 
number of treasury shares before and after the usage, and the percentage of the number of treasury shares 
comprised in the usage against the total number of issued shares (of the same class as the treasury shares) 
which are listed on the SGX-ST before and after the usage.
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2.6 Reporting Requirements

 Within 30 days of the passing of a Shareholders’ resolution to approve the purchases of Shares by the Company, 
the Company shall lodge a copy of such resolution with the Registrar.

 The Company shall notify the Registrar within 30 days of a purchase of Shares by the Company on the SGX-ST or 
otherwise. Such notification shall include details of the purchases, the total number of Shares purchased by the 
Company, the Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date of the Shareholders’ resolution approving 
the purchase of the Shares and after the purchase of Shares, the amount of consideration paid by the Company 
for the purchases, whether the Shares were purchased out of profits or the capital of the Company and such 
other particulars as may be required in the prescribed form.

 The Listing Rules specify that a listed company shall notify the SGX-ST of all purchases or acquisitions of its Shares 
not later than 9.00 a.m.:

(a) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day on which the Market Purchase was 
made, and 

(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the second Market Day after the 
close of acceptance of the offer for the Off-Market Purchase. 

 The notification of such purchases or acquisition of Shares to the SGX-ST shall be in such form and shall include 
such details that the SGX-ST may prescribe. The Company shall make arrangements with its stockbrokers to 
ensure that they provide the Company in a timely fashion the necessary information which will enable the 
Company to make the notifications to the SGX-ST.

2.7 Source of Funds

 The Company may only apply funds for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares as provided in the Articles of 
Association of the Company and in accordance with the applicable laws in Singapore. The Company may not 
purchase its Shares for a consideration other than in cash or, in the case of a Market Purchase, for settlement 
otherwise than in accordance with the trading rules of the SGX-ST. 

 The Companies Act permits the Company to purchase or acquire its own Shares out of capital, as well as from its 
distributable profits.Apart from using its internal sources of funds, the Company may obtain or incur borrowings 
to finance its purchase or acquisition of Shares.

2.8 Financial Effects

 It is not possible for the Company to realistically calculate or quantify the impact of purchases or acquisitions of 
Shares that may be made pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate on the net tangible asset and earning per 
share as the resultant effect would depend on, inter alia, the aggregate number of Shares purchased or acquired, 
whether the purchase or acquisition is made out of capital or profits, the purchase prices paid for such Shares 
and the amount (if any) borrowed by the Company to fund the purchases or acquisitions and whether the Shares 
purchased or acquired are cancelled or held as treasury shares.

 The Company’s total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the total number of the Shares purchased by 
the Company and which are cancelled. The NTA of the Group will be reduced by the aggregate purchase price 
paid by the Company for the Shares.

 Under the Companies Act, purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company may be made out of the 
Company’s capital or profits so long as the Company is solvent. Where the consideration paid by the Company 
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for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of profits, such consideration (excluding brokerage, stamp 
duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) will correspondingly reduce 
the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company. Where the consideration paid 
by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of capital, the amount available for the 
distribution of cash dividends by the Company will not be reduced.

 The Directors do not propose to exercise the Share Purchase Mandate to such an extent that it would have 
a material adverse effect on the working capital requirements of the Group. The purchase or acquisition of 
the Shares will only be effected after considering relevant factors such as the working capital requirements, 
availability of financial resources, the expansion and investment plans of the Group and the prevailing market 
conditions. The proposed Share Purchase Mandate will be exercised with a view of enhancing the EPS and/or the 
NTA value per Share.

 For illustrative purposes only, the financial effects of the Share Purchase Mandate on the Company and the 
Group, based on the financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 are based 
on the assumptions set out below:

(a) based on 3,831,838,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date (excluding 5,239,000 Shares held in 
treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date), and assuming no further Shares are issued and no further Shares 
are held by the Company as treasury shares on or prior to the AGM, not more than 383,183,800 Shares 
[representing 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding Shares held in treasury) 
as at that date] may be purchased by the Company pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate;

(b) in the case of Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires 
383,183,800 Shares at the Maximum Price of S$1.4081 for one Share (being the price equivalent to 5% 
above the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the five consecutive Market Days on which the Shares 
were traded on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount 
of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of 383,183,800 Shares (excluding brokerage, stamp 
duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) is approximately 
RMB2,708,370,000; and

(c) in the case of Off-Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or 
acquires 383,183,800 Shares at the Maximum Price of S$1.6092 for one Share (being the price equivalent 
to 20% above the Average Closing Price of the Shares on the five consecutive Market Days on which the 
Shares were traded on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum 
amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of 383,183,800 Shares (excluding brokerage, 
stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) is approximately 
RMB3,095,170,000. 

 For illustrative purposes only, and based on the assumptions set out in sub-paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) above 
and assuming that (i) the purchase or acquisition of Shares is financed solely by internal sources of funds; (ii) the 
Share Purchase Mandate had been effective on 1 January 2011; and (iii) the Company had purchased or acquired 
383,183,800 Shares [representing 10% of its total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding Shares 
held in treasury) at the Latest Practicable Date] on 31 December 2011, the financial effects of the purchase or 
acquisition of 383,183,800 Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate:

(1) by way of purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares; and 

(2) by way of purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled,

 on the financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 are 
set out below:
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(1)  Purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares 

(A) Market Purchases 

Group Company

  Before After Before After

Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

 

As at 31 December 2011

Issued capital and reserves 12,994,985 12,859,580 8,861,474 8,726,069 

Treasury shares (20,979)  (2,729,076) (20,979) (2,729,076)

Total shareholders' equity 12,974,006 10,130,505 8,840,495 5,996,994 

NTA 13,716,656 10,130,505 8,840,495 5,996,994 

Profit after taxation and minority interest 3,976,599 3,841,194 3,920,027 3,784,622 

Net debt 1,144,848 3,852,945 1,304,131 4,012,228 

 Number of shares ('000) 3,831,838 3,448,654 3,831,838 3,448,654 

Financial Ratios 

NTA per share (cents) 357.97 293.75 230.71 173.89 

Gross debt gearing (%)  61.90 110.55 15.29 67.69 

Net debt gearing (%) 8.35 38.03 14.75 66.90 

Current ratio (times) 1.43 1.28 4.27 1.32 

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 39.14 19.73 287.84 27.90 

Basic EPS (cents) 

(before exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.10 

(after exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.10 

Return on equity 30.65 37.92 44.34 63.11
 

Note:
Based on 3,831,838,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, excluding 5,239,000 Shares that are held in 
treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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Appendix I

(B) Off-Market Purchases 

  Group Company

  Before After Before After

Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

As at 31 December 2011

Issued capital and reserves 12,994,985 12,840,237 8,861,474 8,706,726 

Treasury shares (20,979) (3,115,947) (20,979) (3,115,947)

Total shareholders' equity 12,974,006 9,724,290 8,840,495 5,590,779 

NTA 12,974,006 9,724,290 8,840,495 5,590,779 

Profit after taxation and minority interest 3,976,599 3,821,851 3,920,027 3,765,279 

Net debt 1,144,848 4,239,816 1,304,131 4,399,099 

Number of shares ('000) 3,831,838 3,448,654 3,831,838 3,448,654 

Financial Ratios 

NTA per share (cents) 338.58 281.97 230.71 162.11 

 Gross debt gearing (%) 65.44 114.37 15.29 74.14 

 Net debt gearing (%) 8.82 43.60 14.75 78.68 

 Current ratio (times) 1.43 1.25 4.27 1.20 

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 39.14 18.42 287.84 24.71 

Basic EPS (cents)

(before exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.09

(after exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.09 

Return on equity 30.65 39.30 44.34 67.35 
 
      

Note:
Based on 3,831,838,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, excluding 5,239,000 Shares that are held in 
treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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(2) Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

(A) Market Purchases 
 

Group Company

  Before After Before After

Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 

As at 31 December 2011

Issued capital and reserves / Total 
shareholders' equity 12,974,006 10,130,505 8,840,495 5,996,994 

NTA 12,974,006 10,130,505 8,840,495 5,996,994 

Profit after taxation and minority interest 3,976,599 3,841,194 3,920,027 3,784,622 

Net debt 1,144,848 3,852,945 1,304,131 4,012,228 

Number of shares ('000) 3,831,838 3,448,654 3,831,838 3,448,654 

Financial Ratios

NTA per share (cents) 338.58 293.75 230.71 173.89 

Gross debt gearing (%) 65.44 110.55 15.29 67.69 

Net debt gearing (%) 8.82 38.03 14.75 66.90 

Current ratio (times) 1.43 1.28 4.27 1.32 

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 39.14 19.73 287.84 27.90 

Basic EPS (cents)

(before exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.10 

(after exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.10 

Return on equity 30.65 37.92 44.34 63.11 
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(B) Off-Market Purchases 

Group Company

  Before After Before After

Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

As at 31 December 2011

Issued capital and reserves / Total 
shareholders' equity 12,974,006 9,724,290 8,840,495 5,590,779 

NTA 12,974,006 9,724,290 8,840,495 5,590,779 

Profit after taxation and minority interest 3,976,599 3,821,851 3,920,027 3,765,279 

Net debt 1,144,848 4,239,816 1,304,131 4,399,099 

Number of shares ('000) 3,831,838 3,448,654 3,831,838 3,448,654 

Financial Ratios

NTA per share (cents) 338.58 281.97 230.71 162.11 

Gross debt gearing (%) 65.44 114.37 15.29 74.14 

Net debt gearing (%) 8.82 43.60 14.75 78.68 

Current ratio (times) 1.43 1.25 4.27 1.20 

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 39.14 18.42 287.84 24.71 

Basic EPS (cents)

(before exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.09 

(after exceptional items) 1.04 1.11 1.02 1.09 

Return on equity 30.65 39.30 44.34 67.35

Shareholders should note that the financial effects set out above are purely for illustrative purposes only. 
Although the proposed Share Purchase Mandate would authorise the Company to purchase or acquire up to 
10% of its issued Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury), the Company may not necessarily purchase or 
acquire or be able to purchase or acquire the entire 10% of its issued Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury).
In addition, the Company may cancel all or part of the Shares repurchased or hold all or part of the Shares 
repurchased in treasury. 

Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax positions or any tax implications arising from the 
Share Purchase Mandate or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than Singapore should consult 
their own professional advisers. 
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2.9 Take-over Implications

 Appendix 2 of the Singapore Code on Take-over and Mergers (“Take-over Code”) contains the Share Purchase 
Guidance Note applicable as at the Latest Practicable Date. The take-over implications arising from any purchase 
or acquisition by the Company of its Shares are set out below.

2.9.1 Obligation to make a Take-over Offer

 If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of the Shares, the proportionate interest in the 
voting capital of the Company of a Shareholder and person(s) acting in concert with him increases, such 
increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of Rule 14 of the Take-over Code. Consequently, 
a Shareholder or a group of Shareholders acting in concert with a Director could obtain or consolidate 
effective control of the Company and become obliged to make an offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over 
Code.

2.9.2 Persons Acting in Concert

 Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to 
an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate, through the acquisition by any 
of them of shares in a company to obtain or consolidate effective control of the company.

 Unless the contrary is established, the following persons, inter alia, will be presumed to be acting in concert, 
namely:

(a) a company with its parent company, subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, any associated companies of 
the foregoing companies, any company whose associated companies include any of the foregoing 
companies, and any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary 
course of business) to any of the foregoing companies for the purchase of voting rights;

(b) a company with any of its directors, together with their close relatives, related trusts and any 
companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and related trusts;

(c) a company with any of its pension funds and employee share schemes;

(d) a person with any investment company, unit trust or other fund in respect of the investment account 
which such person manages on a discretionary basis;

(e) a financial or other professional adviser, with its client in respect of the shareholdings of the adviser 
and the persons controlling, controlled by or under the same control as the adviser and all the funds 
which the adviser manages on a discretionary basis, where the shareholdings of the adviser and any 
of those funds in the client total 10% or more of the client's equity share capital; 

(f) directors of a company, together with their close relatives, related trusts and companies controlled 
by any of them, which is subject to an offer or where they have reason to believe a bona fide offer for 
their company may be imminent;

(g) partners; and

(h) an individual, his close relatives, his related trusts, any person who is accustomed to act according 
to his instructions, companies controlled by any of the foregoing persons and any person who has 
provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of business) to any of the 
foregoing persons and/or entities for the purchase of voting rights.
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 For this purpose, ownership or control of at least 20% but not more than 50% of the voting rights of a 
company will be regarded as the test of associated company status.

 The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and persons acting in concert with them 
respectively, will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code after a 
purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.

2.9.3 Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2

 In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code is that, unless exempted, 
Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under 
Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring Shares:

(a) the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase to 30% or more; or

(b) in the event that such Directors and their concert parties hold between 30% and 50% of the Company’s 
voting rights, if the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase by more 
than 1% in any period of six months.

 In calculating the percentages of voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties, treasury shares 
shall be excluded.

 Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a Shareholder who is not acting in concert with the Directors 
will not be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or 
acquiring its Shares:

(a) the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase to 30% or more; or

(b) if such Shareholder holds between 30% and 50% of the Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of 
such Shareholder would increase by more than 1% in any period of six months.

 Such Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the renewal of the 
Share Purchase Mandate. 

 Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any facts or factors which suggest or imply that any 
particular person(s) and/or Shareholder(s) are, or may be regarded as, parties acting in concert such that 
their respective interests in voting shares in the capital of the Company should or ought to be consolidated, 
and consequences under the Take-over Code would ensue as a result of a purchase of Shares by the 
Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate. 

 Shareholders who are in doubt as to their obligations, if any, to make a mandatory take-over offer 
under the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company should 
consult the Securities Industry Council and/or their professional advisers at the earliest opportunity.

2.10 Listing Rules

 While the Listing Rules do not expressly prohibit purchase of shares by a listed company during any particular 
time or times, the listed company would be considered an “insider” in relation to any proposed purchase or 
acquisition of its issued shares. In this regard, the Company will not purchase any Shares pursuant to the Share 
Purchase Mandate after a price-sensitive development has occurred or has been the subject of consideration 
and/or a decision of the Board of Directors until such time as the price-sensitive information has been publicly 
announced. In particular, the Company will not purchase or acquire any Shares through Market Purchases during 
the period of:
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(a) one month immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s annual financial results; and

(b) two weeks immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s financial results for each of the 
first three quarters of its financial year.

 The Company is required under Rule 723 of the Listing Manual to ensure that at least 10% of its Shares (excluding 
Shares held in treasury) are in the hands of the public. The “public”, as defined under the Listing Manual, are 
persons other than the directors, chief executive officer, Substantial Shareholders or controlling shareholders of 
the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the associates of such persons.

 Based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings and the Register of Substantial Shareholders maintained by 
the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, approximately 1,923,838,135 Shares, representing approximately 
50.21% of the issued Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury), are in the hands of the public. Assuming that the 
Company purchases its Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Purchase 
Mandate, the number of Shares in the hands of the public would be reduced to approximately 1,540,654,335 
Shares, representing approximately 44.67% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company (excluding 
Shares held in treasury). Accordingly, the Company is of the view that there is a sufficient number of issued 
Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury) held in the hands of the public which would permit the Company 
to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its issued Shares up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate without affecting the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST, and that the number of 
Shares remaining in the hands of the public will not fall to such a level as to cause market illiquidity.

 In undertaking any purchases or acquisitions of Shares through Market Purchases, the Directors will use their 
best efforts to ensure that, notwithstanding such purchases, a sufficient float in the hands of the public will be 
maintained so that the purchases or acquisitions of Shares will not adversely affect the listing status of the Shares 
on the SGX-ST, cause market illiquidity or adversely affect the orderly trading of the Shares.

2.11 Details of Shares Bought by the Company in the previous 12 months

 The details of the share purchases made by the Company in the previous 12 months prior to the Latest Practicable 
Date are as follows:-

(a) the total number of Shares purchased was 5,000,000. All such Shares were acquired by way of Market 
Purchases;

(b) the highest and lowest price paid for such Shares purchases were S$0.89 and S$0.77 respectively; and

(c) the total consideration paid by the Company for such Share purchases was S$4,115,293.03.
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3. DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

3.1 Directors’ Interests

 The interests of the Directors in the Shares as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings as at the Latest 
Practicable Date are set out below:

Number of Shares

Director Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Ren Yuanlin 2,200,000 1,000,000,0001

Wang Dong - 394,134,0002

Xiang Jianjun - 394,134,0003

Teo Yi-Dar 150,000 -

Teo Moh Gin - -

Yu Kebing 300,000 54,876,0004

3.2 Substantial Shareholders' Interests

 The interests of the Substantial Shareholders of the Company in the Shares as recorded in the Register of 
Substantial Shareholders as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

Number of Shares Total Percentage 
Interest (%)5Substantial Shareholder Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Ren Yuanlin 2,200,000 1,000,000,0006 26.1546

Newyard 1,000,000,000 - 26.0971

Xiang Jianjun - 394,134,0007 10.2858

Lido Point Investments Ltd 394,134,000 - 10.2858

Wang Dong - 394,134,0008 10.2858

HongKong Hengyuan Investment Limited 326,197,375 - 8.5128

Chang Liang - 326,197,3759 8.5128

1 Ren Yuanlin is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard, by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

2 Wang Dong is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido Point Investments Ltd (“Lido”), by virtue of Section 7 
of the Companies Act.

3 Xiang Jianjun is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido, by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

4 Yu Kebing is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Mediterranean Success Group Inc. (“Mediterranean”), by 
virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

5 Based on 3,831,838,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, excluding 5,239,000 Shares that are held in treasury as at the 
Latest Practicable Date.

6 Ren Yuanlin is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard, by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

7 Xiang Jianjun is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido, by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

8 Wang Dong is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido, by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

9 Chang Liang is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in HongKong Hengyuan Investment Limited, by virtue of 
Section 7 of the Companies Act.
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4. DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATIONS

 The Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

 The Directors are of the opinion that the proposed renewal of Share Purchase Mandate is in the best interest 
of the Company. Accordingly, the Directors, recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of the Ordinary 
Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of Share Purchase Mandate as set out in the Notice of 2012 AGM.

5. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 The 2012 AGM, notice of which is set out on pages 123 to 126 of the Notice of AGM attached to the 2011 
Annual Report of the Company, will be held at Meeting Rooms 301-302, Level 3, Suntec Singapore International 
Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593, on 27 April 2012 at 3.30 p.m. 
for the purpose of, inter alia, considering and, if thought fit, passing the ordinary resolution on the renewal of 
Share Purchase Mandate as set out in the Notice of the 2012 AGM. 

6. DOCUMENTS FOR INSPECTION

 The following documents may be inspected at the registered office of the Company at 80 Robinson Road, #02-
00, Singapore 068898 during normal business hours from the date hereof up to and including the date of the 
2012 AGM:

(a) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company; and

(b) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for FY2011.

7. DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

 The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in 
this Appendix I and confirm after making all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
this Appendix I constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about the proposed renewal of Share 
Purchase Mandate, the Company and its subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission 
of which would make any statement in this Appendix I misleading. Where information in the Appendix I has 
been extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources or obtained from a named source, the 
sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information has been accurately and correctly 
extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in the Appendix I in its proper form and context.

8. SGX-ST’s DISCLAIMER

 The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of any of the statements made, reports contained or 
opinion expressed in this Appendix I.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
YANGZIJIANG SHIPBUILDING (HOLDINGS) LTD.

Ren Yuanlin
Executive Chairman
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PROXY FORM

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 200517636Z)

1. 

2. 

For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in the capital of 
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd., the Summary Report is forwarded to 
them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR 
INFORMATION ONLY.

This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

I/We__________________________________________________________ (name)________________(NRIC/Passport No.) 
of________________________________________________________________________________________(address) 
being a member/ members of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”), hereby appoint: -

Name Address NRIC/ Passport No. Proportion of shareholdings to 
be represented by proxy (%)

and/or failing him (delete as appropriate)

or failing him, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and 
to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the AGM of the Company to be held at Meeting 
Rooms 301-302, Level 3, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, 
Singapore 039593 on Friday, 27 April 2012 at 3.30 p.m., and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated with an “X” 
in the spaces provided hereunder. If no specified directions as to voting are given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain 
from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any matter arising at the Meeting.

No. Ordinary Resolutions For Against

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011 and the Reports of the Directors and the 
Auditors thereon.

2. To declare a tax exempt (one-tier) final dividend of S$0.055 per ordinary share for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$90,000 by the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011. 

4. To re-elect Mr Ren Yuanlin as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 94 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association.

5. To re-elect Mr Teo Yi-dar (Zhang Yida) as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 
94 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

6. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company and to 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

7. To authorise Directors to allot and issue shares.

8. To renew the Share Purchase Mandate.

Dated this ________day of ____________________, 2012 Total Number of  
Shares Held in:

No. of 
Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

______________________________________________  
Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

IMPORTANT:Please read notes overleaf



Notes:-

1.  A member should insert the total number of shares held by him. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50), he should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert that number of 
shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in Depository Register and shares registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of 
shares. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member.

2.  A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a 
member of the Company.

3.  Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as percentage of the whole) to be represented 
by each proxy.

4.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 80 Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898 not less than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

5.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is 
executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6.  Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by the attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous 
registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not 
ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company 
may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours 
before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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